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Reorganized Business Portfolio

*�With changes in accounting policies at subsidiaries in the Leasing Business, consolidated accounts reported in the past have been retroactively revised, and historical data for past fiscal years shown here reflects these retroac-
tive revisions.

For the years ended March 31:
(JPY million) (USD thousand)

FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016* FY2017 FY2018 FY2019 FY2020 FY2020
Net sales 458,220 454,285 470,883 483,247 511,513 520,488 530,840 505,223 433,553 408,959 3,693,968

Leasing Business 379,091 383,637 388,562 399,375 410,641 416,594 435,537 426,388 388,939 391,964 3,540,465
Development Business 62,913 53,369 63,135 61,312 74,160 74,566 76,587 58,992 23,806 — —
Elderly Care Business 8,845 9,482 10,171 10,608 10,798 11,536 12,807 13,922 14,620 14,524 131,193
Hotel, Resort & Other Businesses 7,370 7,795 9,013 11,950 15,913 17,791 5,908 5,919 6,186 2,469 22,308

Cost of sales 403,572 396,508 401,510 407,433 422,604 427,820 434,762 428,988 408,112 387,872 3,503,504
Selling, general and administrative expenses 51,278 50,299 55,906 60,992 67,823 69,769 73,147 68,844 61,915 50,269 454,061
Operating profit (loss) 3,369 7,477 13,467 14,822 21,085 22,898 22,930 7,390 (36,473) (29,182) (263,597)

Leasing Business 4,052 8,750 15,364 20,590 22,848 22,459 26,062 14,987 (20,828) (19,385) (175,101)
Development Business 4,290 2,748 2,951 211 3,340 5,051 3,663 (995) (5,181) — —
Elderly Care Business (855) (742) (610) (606) (1,354) (1,650) (1,596) (846) (559) (720) (6,511)
Hotel, Resort & Other Businesses (1,702) (970) (981) (1,257) (360) 664 (846) (1,346) (1,000) (1,551) (14,017)
Adjustments (2,415) (2,308) (3,256) (4,116) (3,388) (3,626) (4,353) (4,407) (8,903) (7,524) (67,966)

EBITDA (Operating profit + depreciation) 9,416 13,161 19,460 22,558 30,700 32,235 34,656 20,336 (24,316) (18,766) (169,506)
Recurring profit (loss) 1,133 11,154 11,368 13,483 19,909 22,355 22,354 7,063 (36,341) (34,170) (308,644)
Net income (loss) 372 13,398 15,730 15,175 19,631 20,401 14,819 (68,662) (80,224) (23,680) (213,897)

At year-end:
Total assets 264,783 261,649 288,165 308,882 327,609 337,828 337,257 291,790 196,953 161,708 1,460,652
Net assets 31,761 56,145 103,354 124,928 144,865 158,870 159,438 81,338 1,589 3,277 29,601
Interest-bearing debt 51,654 49,026 37,227 44,487 50,824 49,918 53,829 48,047 36,137 35,409 319,835
Cash and deposit balance 41,477 56,681 74,767 75,221 88,043 104,432 106,543 84,536 60,501 54,863 495,559

Cash flow:
Cash flow from operating activities (3,174) 6,069 15,584 15,715 22,104 27,504 27,338 (7,212) (51,639) (40,816) (368,679)
Cash flow from investing activities (3,537) (6) (6,929) (17,550) (11,087) (8,653) (2,336) 7,379 39,533 11,829 106,852
Cash flow from financing activities 7,245 9,148 8,848 1,747 1,374 (14,048) (18,354) (15,181) (12,048) 23,571 212,908
Free cash flow (FCF) (6,712) 6,063 8,654 (1,834) 11,017 18,850 25,001 167 (12,106) (28,986) (261,827)

Amounts per share: (Yen)

Net assets 187.50 265.32 393.05 475.17 550.94 603.76 630.84 331.87 5.34 (25.83) (0.23)
Net income (loss) 2.21 74.85 69.38 57.73 74.68 77.61 58.02 (278.58) (328.77) (84.88) (0.77)
Cash dividend — — — — 10.00 22.00 22.00 — — — —

Index:

Units under management 556,207 546,204 548,912 554,948 561,961 568,739 570,672 574,798 575,798 573,673 573,673

Average annual occupancy rate (%) 81.16 82.94 84.58 86.57 87.95 88.53 90.59 88.34 80.78 78.89 78.89

Construction subcontracting orders received (JPY million) 50,019 73,006 81,139 87,395 86,439 87,139 75,905 64,495 7,814 5,927 53,544

Equity ratio (%) 12.0 21.5 35.9 40.4 44.2 47.0 47.2 27.7 0.7 (5.3) (5.3)
Return on equity (ROE) (%) 1.2 30.5 19.7 13.3 14.6 13.4 9.3 (57.2) (195.1) — —
Return on assets (ROA) (%) 0.4 4.2 4.1 4.5 6.3 6.7 6.6 2.2 (14.9) (19.1) (19.1)
Dividend payout ratio (%) — — — — 13.4 28.3 37.9 — — — —
Debt/equity ratio (%) 1.6 0.9 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.6 23.0 (4.4) (4.4)
Number of employees 6,165 6,277 6,758 7,339 7,846 7,695 7,690 7,600 7,043 5,082 5,082
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Net sales Operating profit (loss)• Corporate housing management & rental housing brokerage
• Rental payment guarantees
• International business

Leasing Business

Until Fiscal Year 2016 (Year ended March 2017) Fiscal Year 2017 (Year ended March 2018)—Fiscal Year 2019 (Year ended March 2020) From Fiscal Year 2020 (Year ended March 2021)
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Others
• Small-amount, short-term insurance
• Solar power generation
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• Corporate housing management & rental housing brokerage
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Development Business

Elderly Care Business

Hotels, Resort and 
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Reference: Fiscal Year 2020 (JPY million)

Ten-Year Consolidated Financial Highlights

(Notes)	 1. USD amounts are translated from yen at the rate of JPY110.71 = USD 1.00, the approximate rate prevailing at March 31, 2021.
	 2. Return on equity (ROE) = Net income/average net assets during the fiscal year x 100
	 3. Return on assets (ROA) = Recurring income/average total assets during the fiscal year x 100
	 4. Debt/equity ratio = Interest-bearing debt/(net assets – non-controlling interests)

5. In this report, net income attributable to shareholders of the parent is stated as net income.
6. �Regarding the Hotels, Resort & Other Businesses, we added the results of the Hotels & Resort Business to the results of Others for the period from the fiscal year ended March 2011 to the fiscal year ended March 2016, and 

then we changed the segments in the fiscal year ended March 2018, so we retroactively changed the figures for the fiscal year ended March 2018 to the new segment (Hotels, Resort & Other Businesses).
7. Development Business was integrated to Leasing Business from the fiscal year ended March 2021.
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Financial Highlights

As with operating profit, net income attributable to shareholders of the parent 
had been increasing since the fiscal year ended March 2012, when the results 
of efforts to strengthen the profitability of the Leasing Business began to 
emerge. However, we recorded an impairment loss in the fiscal year ended 
March 2018 as a result of selling Company-owned apartments. Furthermore, 
from the fiscal year ended March 2019, we have recorded provision for losses 
related to repairs, which has led to a fall in business profitability and brought 
about a net loss for the three consecutive fiscal years.

Starting in the fiscal year ended March 2010, net sales were continuously 
increasing, reaching a peak in the fiscal year ended March 2018—due in part to 
our efforts to strengthen the profitability of the Leasing Business. However, our 
sales declined for the third year in a row starting in the fiscal year ended March 
2019, due to the construction defects problem causing us to suspend tenant 
recruitment for rooms, which led to a decrease in occupancy rates, as well as 
the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Concerning the equity ratio over the past ten years, in step with a recovery in 
earnings, we have endeavored to secure financial soundness. Accordingly, the 
equity ratio rose to 47.2% during the fiscal year ended March 2018. However, 
the equity ratio once again fell as a result of worsening business profits since 
the fiscal year ended March 2019, falling to -5.3% at the end of the fiscal year 
ended March 2021.

Our ROA recovered rapidly after returning to the black in the fiscal year ended 
March 2012, climbing to 6.6% in the fiscal year ended March 2018. However, 
profit has significantly dropped from the fiscal year ended March 2019, and ROA 
has been negative for the most recent two years in a row.

Our EBITDA—the combination of operating profit and depreciation—had been 
increasing from the fiscal year ended March 2012 to the fiscal year ended 
March 2018 thanks to increased operating profit as a result of a recovery in 
profitability and higher depreciation stemming from proactive capital invest-
ments in new businesses. However, our EBITDA has declined for three years in a 
row starting in the fiscal year ended March 2019 due to falling operating profit.

Profits had been rising from the fiscal year ended March 2012, when the 
results of efforts to strengthen the profitability of the Leasing Business began 
to emerge. However, with the construction defects problem in the fiscal year 
ended March 2020 and the COVID-19 pandemic in the fiscal year ended March 
2021, an operating loss has been recorded for two consecutive years with a 
marked decrease in profit.

In the last 10 years, we have focused on reducing and curtailing the debt ratio in 
consideration of our repayment capacity. As a result, our interest-bearing debt 
was JPY 35.4 billion at the end of the fiscal year ended March 2021.

As a result of our earnings steadily increasing due to our Leasing Business in 
particular, our ROE hovered in the 10% range starting in the fiscal year ended 
March 2015. It subsequently declined at the same time net assets fell due to a 
major drop in profit. While net assets rose in response to an increase in capital 
in the fiscal year ended March 2021, equity was negative.
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Because expanding our number of units under management strengthens our 
earnings base, we strived to expand the number of units under management 
by supplying more properties in areas where we expect strong tenant demand, 
with a focus on Japan’s three major metropolitan areas in particular. We are 
currently focused on improving the occupancy rate of properties we already 
manage as opposed to increasing the quantity of properties. At the end of the 
fiscal year ended March 2021, our units under management fell by around 2,000 
compared to the previous year to 573,673.

We have increased our cash flows from operating activities mainly in the form 
of net income before tax adjustments since the global financial crisis, and as a 
result of curtailing the outflow of cash used for capital investments and other 
investing activities, we achieved continued growth in free cash flow. However, 
as a result of declining profits from the fiscal year ended March 2019 onward, 
cash flows from operating activities became negative from the fiscal year ended 
March 2020, and free cash flow was negative for two consecutive years.

The Company places utmost importance on human resources, and implements 
employee training programs and other measures that help all employees express 
their diverse individuality and harness their capabilities. In addition to this, we 
aim to build pleasant workplaces where people enjoy work, in an effort to improve 
issues with long working hours that are specific to this industry. As a result, while 
the rate of workforce turnover fell to 12.4% in the fiscal year ended March 2020, 
the fiscal year ended March 2021 saw a temporary uptick in the rate of workforce 
turnover due to the implementation of the voluntary retirement program.

Under the guidance of the Japanese government, work-style reform for both 
men and women are gaining momentum. This includes awareness of working 
styles and associated changes in behavior. To this end, we have been taking 
steps towards developing a workplace environment with systems in place 
to make it easier for employees to request childcare leave, in addition to 
considering improvements to work-life balance, such as reducing the amount of 
overtime work and encouraging increased use of paid leaves. As a result, uptake 
of childcare leave has been on the rise, reaching a record high of 4.8% in the 
fiscal year ended March 2021.

Our rental housing occupancy rates tend to follow a cycle of peaking in March 
ahead of the new school year and before new company recruits head off to 
work, before typically decreasing in April, then gradually picking up again. 
In order to eliminate falls in occupancy as a result of this cycle, we promote 
measures to encourage long-term tenancies, and our average annual occupancy 
rate had been gradually increasing. However, occupancy rates have been falling 
for three years running as a result of the construction defects problem and the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

As a result of an increase in our cash flows from operating activities, curtailing 
the outflow of cash used for capital investments and other investing activities, 
and moreover selling off owned assets, our cash and deposits balance 
continued to increase until the end of the fiscal year ended March 2018. Due to 
factors that included our cash flows from operating activities becoming negative 
starting in the fiscal year ended March 2019, our cash and deposits balance has 
been falling.

Leopalace21 believes that providing a place for a workforce of people from 
a broad array of backgrounds with diverse values to thrive helps create new 
value, and greatly contributes to the growth of our Company. With regard 
to the employment of persons with disabilities, we established the special 
subsidiary company Leopalace Smile in August 2009. While complying with the 
legally prescribed employment quota of persons with disabilities, we provide 
workplaces where all employees can work with a higher sense of fulfilment.

The dissemination of work-style reform implemented by the Company has 
caused a shift in employees’ sense of value attributed to work, from one that 
prioritized long working hours to one that emphasizes productivity. With efforts 
to promote the use of paid leave, such as the planned five-day annual leave in 
summer and winter and the three-day refreshment leave, which can be used 
anytime throughout the year, the rate of usage of paid leaves has continually 
surpassed 70%. During the previous fiscal year, the voluntary retirement 
program led to an increased uptake of paid leave before retirement, leading to a 
temporary rise in the rate of usage.

Non-Financial Highlights
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1. Operating Environment
The domestic economy, apart from some parts of the industries that 
showed signs of recovery, remained extremely challenging, as con-
sumer spending was sluggish and corporate earnings deteriorated 
sharply due to such factors as the issuance of a declaration of a 
state of emergency in response to the spread of COVID-19 pan-
demic and requests to stay home and refrain from going out.

The new housing starts of leased units declined for the four 
years in a row (down 9.4% year on year) due to the tightening of 
lending terms by financial institutions. In the rental housing market, 
the number of vacant houses continues to increase, and in order to 
secure a stable occupancy rate amid difficulty in recovering nation-
wide demand, the Company believes it is important to implement 
a differentiation strategy by providing value-added services and by 
focusing on supplying apartments in the three metropolitan areas 
where high occupancy rates are expected in the future.

Under these circumstances, Leopalace21 Group (the “Group”) 
posted a significant loss for the two years in a row in the previous 
fiscal year, mainly due to a deterioration in the occupancy rates 
caused by the construction defects. The Company announced, on 
April 30, 2020, “Drastic Business Strategies Reconstruction” and 
has been continuing to stabilize both business and financial posi-
tion by implementing strategies centered on Reconstruct business 
foundation – selective concentration; Implement structural reforms; 
and Restore the trust of society.

Although the business performance headed for recovery follow-
ing the progress of repair works and resumption of tenant recruit-
ment, the protracted COVID-19 impact contributed sluggish demand 
due to restraint transfer and reduction of new hires at the corporate 
customers, promotion of online course lectures at colleges and uni-
versities and strict immigration control for foreign nationals.

2. Analysis of Business Results
(1) Net Sales
Net sales for the consolidated fiscal year ended March 2021 
amounted to JPY 408,959 million (down 5.7% year on year). The 
decrease was mainly caused by the protracted COVID-19 impact 
which resulted in corporate customers’ demand restraint in job 
transfers, in hiring new graduates, and cancellation of business trips 
and group trainings. Prevailed online course lectures at colleges and 
universities and strict immigration control for foreign nationals were 
another factors which played negatively in the business.

 Net Sales by Segment

(JPY million) FY 2019 FY2020 Change

Leasing Business 412,746 391,964 (20,781)

Elderly Care Business 14,620 14,524 (96)

Other Businesses 6,186 2,469 (3,716)

Total 433,553 408,959 (24,594)

(2) Earnings
Operating loss was JPY 29,182 million (a reduced loss of JPY 
7,290 million year on year) due mainly to a decrease in rent 
revenues by stagnant occupancy rates, despite JPY 31,885 mil-
lion reduction in cost of sales and SGA expense year on year. 
Recurring loss was JPY 34,170 million (a reduced loss of JPY 
2,171 million year on year) due to the incurrence of funding costs 
and increased interest expenses. Net loss attributable to share-
holders of the parent was JPY 23,680 million (a reduced loss 
of JPY 56,543 million year on year) mainly due to recording of 
impairment loss on non-current assets and goodwill of JPY 4,041 
million and special severance allowance of JPY 2,479 million 
associated with the voluntary retirement program in extraordinary 
losses despite reversal of provision for losses related to repairs of 
JPY 15,374 million resulting from lowered unit repair cost through 
placing batch orders and by employing a new repair method, and 
gains on sale of investment securities of JPY 4,065 million.

 Operating Profit by Segment

(JPY million) FY 2019 FY2020 Change

Leasing Business (25,966) (19,385) 6,580

Elderly Care Business (541) (720) (179)

Other Businesses (994) (1,551) (557)

Adjustments (8,971) (7,524) 1,446

Total (36,473) (29,182) 7,290

Financial Section

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

 Change in Operating Profit

(3) Segment Information
Leasing Business
The Company offers my DIY which enables the tenant to custom-
ize one of the walls of the room to their tastes, smart apartment 
functionality to lock/unlock the door and control home appliances 
through smart phones, high level of remote customer support by 
web-based customer services, room viewing and contract signing, 
and security systems in alliance with large security companies as 
a part of the value-added services. In addition, to achieve stable 
occupancy rates, the Company has been strengthening sales activ-
ities towards corporate customers to respond to their dormitory 
and company housing demand and increasing support for foreign 
tenants. The subsidiaries in the ASEAN region operate serviced 
apartments and serviced offices in the respective countries.

Since the demand continued slow centered on the corporate 
customers, the major customer group, resulting from the spread of 
COVID-19 pandemic albeit diminishing impact from the construc-
tion defects problem, the occupancy rate at the end of the con-
solidated fiscal year ended March 2021 was 81.72% (down 1.35 
points from the end of the previous fiscal year) and the average 
occupancy rate was 78.89% (down 1.89 points year on year). The 
number of units under management at the end of the consolidated 
fiscal year ended March 2021 was 573 thousand (decreased by 
two thousand from the end of the previous fiscal year).

The Company has been improving the efficiency in sales and 
operation through promoting web-based contract signing and use 
of real estate agents, which enabled the lean operation with 139 
direct leasing sales offices at the end of the consolidated fiscal 
year ended March 2021 (decreased by 50 from the end of the pre-
vious fiscal year).

As a result of orders becoming sluggish due to intensified com-
petition in the metropolitan areas and changes in the environment 
of apartment loans, in addition to stop taking new orders for 
apartment construction because of the construction defects prob-
lem such as parting walls, orders received during the consolidated 
fiscal year amounted to JPY 5,927 million (down 24.1% year on 
year) and the orders received outstanding stood at JPY 9,651 mil-
lion (down 65.2% from the end of the previous fiscal year).

As a result, net sales amounted to JPY 391,964 million (down 
5.0% year on year) and operating loss was JPY 19,385 million (an 
increase of JPY 6,580 million year on year).

Elderly Care Business
The Company has been improving the profitability of the Elderly 
Care Business, a strategic growth business, through continuous 
operational reformation and cost control. However the users of 
the facilities decreased due to the risk of infection of COVID-19.

Net sales were JPY 14,524 million (down 0.7% year on year) 
and operating loss was JPY 720 million (increased loss of JPY 179 
million year on year). The number of facilities was 87 at the end 
of March 2021.

Other Businesses
Net sales of the Other Businesses, including resort facilities in 
Guam and finance business, were JPY 2,469 million (down 60.1% 
year on year) and operating loss was JPY 1,551 million (increased 
loss of JPY 557 million year on year) as a result of sharply 
declined occupancy rate of Guam resort facilities impacted by the 
spread of COVID-19 pandemic and downscaled operation due to 
the transfer of hotels business in Japan.

3. Analysis of Consolidated Financial Position
(1) Position of Assets, Liabilities, and Net assets
Total assets at the end of the fiscal year decreased by JPY 35,244 
million from the end of the previous fiscal year to JPY 161,708 
million. This was mainly attributable to a decrease of following 
items: JPY 5,638 million in cash and deposits, JPY 2,447 million 
in real estate for sales in process, JPY 8,583 million in securities 
and investment securities as a result of sale of those securities 
for the purpose of securing the stable operating funds, JPY 2,105 
million in prepaid expenses and long-term prepaid expenses, JPY 
5,774 million in land due to the sale or impairment losses of real 
estate for sale, JPY 4,306 million in buildings and structures (net), 
and JPY 3,691 million in leased assets (net).

Total liabilities decreased by JPY 36,932 million from the end of 
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the previous fiscal year to JPY 158,431 million. This was mainly 
attributable to a decrease of following items: JPY 5,340 million in 
advances received and long-term advances received because of 
decreased monthly rental contracts, JPY 5,341 million in accounts 
payable – other due to reduced expenses, JPY 22,738 million in 
provision for losses related to repairs and JPY 3,644 million in 
provision for apartment vacancy loss.

Net assets increased by JPY 1,687 million from the end of the 
previous fiscal year to JPY 3,277 million. This was mainly due to 
an increase of JPY 5,999 million in common stock, JPY 10,026 
million in capital surplus and JPY 11,366 million in non-controlling 
interests as a result of issuance of new shares through third party 
allotment and issuance of preferred stock in a Company’s consol-
idated subsidiary despite recording of JPY 23,680 million in net 
loss attributable to shareholders of the parent. The ratio of total 
shareholders’ equity to assets dropped by 6.0 points from the end 
of the previous fiscal year to minus 5.3%.

(2) Cash Flow Position
Cash flow from operating activities was a net outflow of JPY 
40,816 million (a reduction of JPY 10,823 million in net outflow year 
on year). This was mainly due to a recording of JPY 10,416 million 
in depreciation, JPY 4,041 million of impairment loss, whereas a 
recording of JPY 22,925 million of net loss before income taxes and 
other adjustments, reversal of provision for losses related to repairs 
of JPY 15,374 million, a decrease of JPY 5,861 million in accounts 
payable, a decrease of JPY 5,327 million of advances received and 
JPY 8,313 million of payment related to repairs.

Cash flow from investing activities was a net inflow of JPY 
11,829 million (a reduction of JPY 27,704 million in net inflow year 
on year). This was mainly due to JPY 2,328 million of expenditure 
in purchase of property, plant and equipment, whereas JPY 4,167 
million of proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, JPY 
5,600 million of proceeds from redemption of securities and JPY 
4,341 million of proceeds from sale of investment securities.

Cash flow from financing activities was a net inflow of JPY 
23,571 million (a net outflow of JPY 12,048 million in the previous 
fiscal year). This was mainly due to JPY 17,790 million of expen-
diture in repayment of long-term debt and JPY 8,103 million of 
expenditure in payment for redemption of bonds, JPY 4,181 million 
of expenditure in repayment of finance lease obligations and JPY 
2,868 million of expenditure in payment for funding costs whereas 
JPY 30,234 million of proceeds from long-term debt, JPY 11,999 
million of proceeds from issuance of shares and JPY 15,000 million 
of proceeds from share issuance to non-controlling shareholders.

As a result, cash and cash equivalents at the end of the fiscal 
year ended March 2021 was JPY 53,346 million, decreased by 
JPY 5,570 million from the end of the previous fiscal year.

4. �Management Policies, Key Issues to Address,  
and Business Environment

Forward-looking statements in the discussion below are based 
on judgments by the Company as of the time of preparing this 
integrated report.

(1) Management Policies
The Company will continue to pursue the policy set forth in the 
“Drastic Business Strategies Reconstruction” announced on April 
30, 2020 and will invest management resources in the core Leasing 
Business through selection and concentration. It will also continue 
to implement structural reforms to drastically improve our corpo-
rate structure starting in the fiscal year ended March 2021. The 
Company will strive to stabilize the business and finances, improve 
the balance of revenues and expenditures on a sustainable basis, 
and strive to realize excessive liabilities elimination. Below are the 
more specifics about implementing the policy with related timeline.

(i) Drastic restructuring
As part of structural reforms, the Company implemented various 
measures to reduce SGA expenses. The measures include with-
drawal from non-core and unprofitable businesses such as sale of 
real estate and investment securities and transfer or liquidation of 
subsidiaries. In addition, the Company reviewed its personnel cost 
structure and offered a voluntary retirement; reduced executive 
remuneration; terminated contracts with advisors and counselors; 
reduced payroll cost including various allowances cutdown in 
tandem with a revised human resources management system. The 
Company further implemented the reduction of the cost of reve-
nue from operations and cost of management in Leasing Business 
including the fixed cost of the leasing sales offices through 
reorganization; abolished the shareholders benefit plan; reduced 
the advertising and sales promotion expenses; cut down the com-
mission expenses through reviewing outsourcing contracts; and 
lowered the IT system related expenses.

In the fiscal year ending March 2022, the Company is continu-
ing structural reforms to reform the profitability structure, and are 
planning to significantly reduce these costs as some measures 
bring about the full 12-month reduction effect which were exe-
cuted in the middle of fiscal year ended March 2021.

(ii) Improving occupancy rates
Since the Leasing Business, being our core business, is a recur-
ring revenue business model, it is essential to improve occupancy 
rates in order to stabilize the business as a goal.

In the second half of the fiscal year ended March 2021, despite 
the impact of COVID-19 remained unchanged, the occupancy rates 
gradually increased as a result of efforts in utilizing IT, such as 
web-based customer services including online room viewing and 
web-based contract signing, and in strengthening ties with real 
estate agents network for recruiting tenants.

In addition to continue and strengthen the above measures in 
the fiscal year ending March 2022, the Company will increase its 
sales efforts with specific targets such as corporate customers, 
individual customers and foreign national customers and reorga-
nize the Leasing Business by implementing area intensive strat-
egy for providing quicker response to the market requirements 
and allocating human resources to realize the goal.

Financial Strategy
At the end of the fiscal year ended March 2021, the Company 
had cash and deposits of 54,863 million yen, a sufficient funds 
to continue operations for foreseeable future. The Company will 
continue to monitor liquidity on hand in the future.

In order to ensure the flexibility and speediness of the capital 
policy, the Company has decided to reduce the common stock, 
as stipulated in Article 447, Paragraph 1 of the Company Act. 
There will be no change in the total number of outstanding 
shares and there will be no effect on the number of shares held 
by all shareholders. In addition, there will be no change in net 
assets and in net assets per share. Please see the details in 33. 
Subsequent Events.

The Company’s outstanding number of shares including dilu-
tive securities as a result of capital policy executed November 
2020 was 489,138,215 shares. The Company increased by the 
resolution of the Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting held on 
June 29, 2021 the number of authorized shares to 750,000,000 in 
preparation for ensuring the speedy fundraising in the future.

(2) Key Issues to Address
The Company announced the recurring loss of JPY 34,170 million 
due to drastic decline in operating revenues resulting from a 
declaration of a state of emergency in response to the spread 
of COVID-19 and economic impact by requests to stay home and 
refrain from going out. Consequently, the Company’s liabilities 
exceeded its assets by 8,494 million yen.

The Tokyo Stock Exchange has changed a part of the Securities 
Listing Regulations and extended the grace period from one year 
to two years in case a company incurs excessive liabilities due to 
the impact of spread of COVID-19. The Company has been there-
fore granted the extension of the grace period from April 1, 2021 
to March 31, 2023.

The Company will eliminate the excessive liabilities at the end 
of the fiscal year ending March 2023 through implementing the 
above mentioned measures, on the assumption that the share 
subscription rights are not exercised. The Company will inform the 
results quarterly.

(3) Business Environment
Regarding population trends, a factor affecting the business 
environment as a mid to long-term point of view, the total number 
of households in Japan is expected to decline after the peak of 
2025 but single-person households is expected to increase up to 
2030 and keep the level of about 20 million households till 2040. 
Net domestic migration to the three major metro regions (inflows 
exceed outflows) will continue. Furthermore, the population aged 
65 or over will mark 30% of the total population and continue to 
rise for the following years. The decreasing trend in productive 
population (aged 15 – 64) will continue and a planned increase in 
foreign workers will partly compensate for the lacking workforce 
in the aging society.

The number of new housing starts of leased units continued 
to decline for the four consecutive years as we mentioned in 1. 
Operating Environment.

Under these circumstances, we need to turnaround the busi-
ness by acquiring the additional corporate demand for providing 
their employees with company-provided housing or dormitories. 
We will keep realizing our purpose as a provider of social infra-
structure for housing amounting to 570,000 managed units.
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JPY million USD thousand (Note 1)

Notes 2021 2020 2021

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and deposits 3, 5, 6, 12 54,863 60,501 495,559
Trade receivables 6 7,930 7,260 71,636
Accounts receivable for completed projects 6 524 532 4,740
Operating loans 6 86 132 779
Securities 3, 6, 7, 12 100 5,951 904
Real estate for sale 3, 11, 12 180 1,189 1,634
Real estate for sale in process 3 349 2,797 3,160
Payment for construction in progress 238 725 2,152
Raw materials and supplies 3 497 539 4,497
Prepaid expenses 2,076 3,053 18,759
Other accounts receivable 1,819 1,242 16,430
Others 4,112 4,543 37,149
Allowance for doubtful accounts 3, 6, 11 (182) (164) (1,646)

Total current assets 72,598 88,304 655,758
Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment: 3, 9, 11, 15, 16, 17, 28
Buildings and structures 3, 12, 15, 16, 17 53,778 64,333 485,758

Accumulated depreciation (34,220) (40,469) (309,103)
Net 19,557 23,863 176,654

Machinery, equipment, and vehicles 3, 9, 12, 15, 16, 17 20,601 20,690 186,081
Accumulated depreciation (12,011) (10,892) (108,491)
Net 8,589 9,798 77,589

Land 9, 12, 15, 16 31,118 36,893 281,080
Leased assets 3, 17, 26 28,924 30,756 261,261

Accumulated depreciation (25,418) (23,558) (229,591)
Net 3,506 7,197 31,670

Construction in progress 9 82 208 742
Other 9, 12, 15, 16, 17 18,358 16,817 165,827

Accumulated depreciation (11,160) (9,244) (100,804)
Net 7,198 7,572 65,022
Total property, plant and equipment 70,052 85,534 632,759

Intangible fixed assets:
Goodwill 3, 9, 28 12 127 113
Others 12, 17 4,161 5,376 37,585

Total intangible fixed assets 4,173 5,504 37,699
Investments and other assets:

Investment securities 6, 7, 12 5,431 8,163 49,059
Long-term loans 6 1,096 1,025 9,900
Bad debts 6, 10 249 225 2,251
Long-term prepaid expenses 3 1,121 2,250 10,128
Deferred tax assets 3, 4, 11 2,194 1,297 19,817
Others 5,443 5,328 49,164
Allowance for doubtful accounts 3, 6, 11 (651) (905) (5,888)

Total investments and other assets 14,883 17,385 134,434
Total non-current assets 89,109 108,424 804,893

Deferred assets:
Bond issuance cost 3 — 224 —

Total deferred assets — 224 —
Total assets 161,708 196,953 1,460,652

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

JPY million USD thousand (Note 1)

Notes 2021 2020 2021

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:

Electronically recorded obligations – operating 6 19 176 176
Accounts payable 6 3,172 3,376 28,659
Accounts payable for completed projects 6 514 1,245 4,650
Short-term borrowings 6, 12 — 847 —
Current portion of long-term debt 6, 12 114 2,659 1,033
Bonds due within one year 6 — 3,066 —
Lease obligations 6, 12 3,133 4,344 28,306
Accounts payable – other 6, 11 9,593 14,935 86,656
Accrued income taxes 696 840 6,294
Advances received 3, 11 28,239 31,997 255,075
Customer advances for projects in progress 541 1,783 4,888
Provision for warranty obligations on completed projects 3, 11 67 117 609
Provision for fulfillment of guarantees 3, 11 2,783 1,200 25,139
Provision for losses related to repairs (short-term) 3, 11 3,777 8,302 34,116
Provision for apartment vacancy loss (short-term) 3, 11 9,301 11,715 84,018
Asset retirement obligations 11, 24 30 44 277
Others 3,811 3,354 34,427

Total current liabilities 65,798 90,006 594,329
Non-current liabilities:

Bonds 6, 7, 12 — 5,037 —
Long-term debt 6, 12 30,615 15,650 276,540
Lease obligations 6, 12 1,544 4,532 13,955
Long-term advances received 3 7,869 9,451 71,079
Lease/guarantee deposits received 6,423 6,286 58,019
Deferred tax liabilities 11 9 5 87
Provision for losses related to repairs 29,732 47,945 268,563
Provision for apartment vacancy loss 3, 11 2,960 4,191 26,741
Liability for retirement benefit 3, 13 9,650 8,701 87,167
Asset retirement obligations 11, 24 63 89 572
Others 3,763 3,465 33,994

Total non-current liabilities 92,633 105,357 836,721
Total liabilities 158,431 195,363 1,431,050

Net assets
Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock:
Authorized: 500,000,000 shares in 2021 and 2020
Issued: �329,389,515 shares in 2021 and  

244,882,515 shares in 2020

25, 33

81,282 75,282 734,191
Capital surplus 33 55,174 45,148 498,373
Retained earnings (142,586) (118,874) (1,287,931)
Treasury stock: �561,610 shares in 2021 and  

771,210 shares in 2020 25 (344) (473) (3,113)
Total shareholders’ equity (6,474) 1,083 (58,479)

Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized gains on other securities 11 (0) 1,047 (1)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 3 (1,877) (280) (16,954)
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 13 (142) (546) (1,288)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income (2,019) 220 (18,244)
Share subscription rights 388 269 3,506
Non-controlling interests 11,383 16 102,819

Total net assets 3,277 1,589 29,601
Total liabilities and net assets 161,708 196,953 1,460,652

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Financial Section

Consolidated Balance Sheet
Leopalace21 Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries
March 31, 2021 and 2020
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JPY million USD thousand (Note 1)

Notes 2021 2020 2021
Net sales 28, 32 408,959 433,553 3,693,968

Sales from Leasing Business 391,964 412,746 3,540,465
Sales from Other Businesses 16,994 20,807 153,502

Cost of sales 387,872 408,112 3,503,504
Cost of sales from Leasing Business 370,872 387,510 3,349,945
Cost of sales from Other Businesses 17,000 20,601 153,558

Gross profit 21,086 25,441 190,463
Selling, general and administrative expenses 50,269 61,915 454,061

Advertising expenses 2,302 1,964 20,799
Sales commission expense 1,852 2,111 16,734
Transfer to allowance for bad debt 107 117 971
Directors’ bonuses 351 493 3,176
Salary and bonuses 19,218 26,282 173,594
Retirement benefit cost 1,883 1,878 17,015
Rent expense 2,944 2,899 26,599
Depreciation and amortization 2,202 2,582 19,898
Taxes and public charges 5,695 5,958 51,446
Other 13,708 17,626 123,824

Operating profit 28 (29,182) (36,473) (263,597)
Non-operating income 1,084 1,788 9,799

Interest income 66 146 598
Dividend income 84 181 759
Investment returns from anonymous associations — 977 —
Gains on valuation of investment securities 141 166 1,278
Foreign exchange gain 110 — 999
Employment adjustment subsidy 243 — 2,200
other 438 317 3,962

Non-operating expenses 6,072 1,656 54,846
Interest expenses 2,171 624 19,610
Bond issuance cost 251 161 2,270
Foreign exchange losses — 157 —
Funding costs 2,904 — 26,238
Share of loss of entities accounted for using equity method 44 72 402
Commission income refund — 255 —
Other 700 384 6,324

Recurring profit (34,170) (36,341) (308,644)
Extraordinary income 19,664 11,681 177,622

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 225 8,945 2,035
Gain on sale of investment securities 4,065 2,368 36,717
Gain on reversal of share subscription rights — 17 —
Gain on cancelling contracts — 350 —
Gain on sale of shares in the subsidiary 0 — 0
Reversal of provision for losses related to repairs 15,374 — 138,869

Extraordinary losses 13 8,419 33,353 76,050
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 18 972 165
Loss on retirement of property, plant and equipment 114 71 1,029
Impairment loss 4,041 7,620 36,505
Provision for losses related to repairs — 21,501 —
Loss related to repairs 982 2,894 8,874
Loss on sale of shares in subsidiaries — 2 —
Loss on sale of investment securities 114 — 1,029
Repair expenses — 63 —
Special severance allowance 2,479 227 22,392
Retirement benefit cost 427 — 3,861
Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries and associated companies 151 — 1,372
Loss on valuation of investment securities 90 — 818

Income before income taxes (22,925) (58,013) (207,072)
Income taxes 3 280 22,211 2,530

Current 710 726 6,413
Deferred (429) 21,485 (3,882)

Net income (23,205) (80,224) (209,603)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests 475 (0) 4,294
Net loss attributable to shareholders of the parent 29 (23,680) (80,224) (213,897)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

JPY million USD thousand (Note 1)

Notes 2021 2020 2021

Net income (23,205) (80,224) (209,603)
Other comprehensive income

Net unrealized gains on other securities 11 (1,047) 766 (9,459)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 3 (1,597) (100) (14,433)
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 13 403 (218) 3,645
Share of other comprehensive income of entities accounted for  
using equity method 0 (3) 6

Total (2,240) 444 (20,240)
Comprehensive income (25,445) (79,780) (229,843)

Comprehensive income attributable to  
shareholders of the parent (25,920) (79,779) (234,132)

Comprehensive income attributable to  
non-controlling interests 474 (0) 4,288

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

JPY million USD thousand (Note 1)

Notes 2021 2020 2021

Net unrealized gains on other securities
Amount accrued in the fiscal year 2,555 1,691 23,084
Rearrangements and adjustments (4,065) (586) (36,717)

Amount before tax effects adjustments (1,509) 1,105 (13,633)
Tax effects 462 (338) 4,174
Net unrealized gains on other securities (1,047) 766 (9,459)

Foreign currency translation adjustments 3
Amount accrued in the fiscal year (1,591) (100) (14,373)
Rearrangements and adjustments (6) — (59)

Amount before tax effects adjustments (1,597) (100) (14,433)
Tax effects — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,597) (100) (14,433)

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans
Amount accrued in the fiscal year (75) (249) (680)
Rearrangements and adjustments 478 175 4,325

Amount before tax effects adjustments 403 (73) 3,645
Tax effects — (144) —
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 403 (218) 3,645

Share of other comprehensive income of entities accounted for  
using equity method
Amount accrued in the fiscal year 0 (3) 6

Total (2,240) 444 (20,240)

Financial Section

Consolidated Statement of Income
Leopalace21 Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

Financial Section

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Leopalace21 Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020
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JPY million

Shareholders’ equity Accumulated other comprehensive income

Share 
Subscription 

rights

Non-
controlling 
interests

Total net 
assetsCommon 

stock
Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

Net unrealized 
gains on other 

securities

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Remeasurements 
of defined 

benefit plans

Total 
accumulated 

other 
comprehensive 

income

Balance as of March 31, 2019 75,282 45,148 (38,635) (655) 81,140 280 (176) (327) (224) 404 17 81,338

Issuance of new shares — —

Net income attributable to 
shareholders of the parent (80,224) (80,224) (80,224)

Disposal of treasury stock (47) 181 134 134

Change in the scope of 
consolidation 33 33 33

Change in share of parent 
from transactions with  
non-controlling interests — —

Net change of items other 
than shareholders’ equity 766 (103) (218) 444 (135) (0) 307

Total change during period — (80,238) 181 (80,056) 766 (103) (218) 444 (135) (0) (79,748)

Balance as of March 31, 2020 75,282 45,148 (118,874) (473) 1,083 1,047 (280) (546) 220 269 16 1,589

Issuance of new shares 5,999 5,999 11,999 11,999

Net income attributable to 
shareholders of the parent (23,680) (23,680) (23,680)

Disposal of treasury stock (32) 128 96 96

Change in the scope of 
consolidation — —

Share change of the parent 
company concerning 
the business with non-
controlling shareholder 4,026 4,026 4,026

Net change of items other 
than shareholders’ equity — (1,047) (1,596) 403 (2,240) 119 11,366 9,245

Total change during period 5,999 10,026 (23,712) 128 (7,557) (1,047) (1,596) 403 (2,240) 119 11,366 1,687

Balance as of March 31, 2021 81,282 55,174 (142,586) (344) (6,474) (0) (1,877) (142) (2,019) 388 11,383 3,277

USD thousand (Note 1)

Shareholders’ equity Accumulated other comprehensive income

Share 
Subscription 

rights

Non-
controlling 
interests

Total net 
assetsCommon 

stock
Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

Net unrealized 
gains on other 

securities

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Remeasurements 
of defined 

benefit plans

Total 
accumulated 

other 
comprehensive 

income

Balance as of March 31, 2020 679,996 407,809 (1,073,743) (4,275) 9,786 9,457 (2,533) (4,933) 1,989 2,429 151 14,357

Issuance of new shares 54,195 54,195 108,391 108,391

Net income attributable to 
shareholders of the parent (213,897) (213,897) (213,897)

Disposal of treasury stock (290) 1,162 871 871

Change in the scope of 
consolidation — —

Share change of the parent 
company concerning 
the business with non-
controlling shareholder 36,368 36,368 36,368

Net change of items other 
than shareholders’ equity — (9,459) (14,420) 3,645 (20,234) 1,076 102,667 83,509

Total change during period 54,195 90,564 (214,188) 1,162 (68,266) (9,459) (14,420) 3,645 (20,234) 1,076 102,667 15,243

Balance as of March 31, 2021 734,191 498,373 (1,287,931) (3,113) (58,479) (1) (16,954) (1,288) (18,244) 3,506 102,819 29,601
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

JPY million USD thousand (Note 1)

Notes 2021 2020 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:
Income before income taxes (22,925) (58,013) (207,072)
Depreciation and amortization 10,416 12,157 94,090
Impairment loss 9, 28 4,041 7,620 36,505
Increase in provision for losses related to repairs — 21,501 —
Reversal of provision for losses related to repairs 20 (15,374) — (138,869)
Loss related to repairs 18 982 2,894 8,874
Special severance allowance for severance 21 2,479 — 22,392
Amortization of goodwill 6 260 61
Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts 3 340 40 3,075
Increase (decrease) in liability for retirement benefits 3 1,360 413 12,291
Increase (decrease) in provision for apartment vacancy loss 3 (3,644) 3,178 (32,921)
Losses on liquidation of subsidiaries and associated companies 151 — 1,372
Interest and dividend income (150) (327) (1,357)
Interest expense 2,171 624 19,610
Funding costs 3 2,904 — 26,238
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 3 (110) 157 (999)
Equity in losses (earnings) of affiliated companies using  
equity method

44 72 402

Loss (gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment (206) (7,973) (1,869)
Loss on retirement of property, plant and equipment 17 114 71 1,029
Loss (gain) on valuation of investment securities (50) (166) (459)
Loss (gain) on sale of investment securities (3,951) (2,368) (35,688)
Investment loss (returns) from anonymous associations — (977) —
Gain on reversal of share subscription rights — (17) —
Gain on cancelling contracts — (350) —
Loss (gain) on sale of shares in subsidiaries (0) 2 (0)
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable (579) 1,095 (5,234)
Decrease (increase) in real estate for sale in process 3,432 (852) 31,002
Decrease (increase) in payment for construction in progress 486 (46) 4,396
Decrease (increase) in long-term prepaid expenses 3 744 878 6,724
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (5,861) (1,922) (52,940)
Increase (decrease) in customer advances for projects in progress (1,241) (1,868) (11,217)
Increase (decrease) in advances received (5,327) (5,032) (48,123)
Increase (decrease) in guarantee deposits received 603 (383) 5,454
Increase (decrease) in accrued consumption taxes (421) 113 (3,807)
Other 1,804 (2,810) 16,296

Subtotal (27,759) (32,029) (250,741)
Interest and dividends received 154 455 1,398
Interest paid (1,500) (574) (13,557)
Payment related to repairs paid (8,313) (18,855) (75,088)
Payment of special severance allowance 21 (2,479) — (22,392)
Income taxes paid (918) (635) (8,299)
Net cash provided by operating activities (40,816) (51,639) (368,679)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Financial Section

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Leopalace21 Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

Financial Section

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Leopalace21 Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020
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1. Basis of Presenting Consolidated Financial Statements
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of 
Leopalace21 Corporation (“the Company”) have been prepared 
in accordance with the provisions of Financial Instruments and 
Exchange Act of Japan, its related accounting regulations and in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, 
which are different in certain respects, as to application and disclo-
sure requirements from International Financial Reporting Standards.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 
reformatted and translated into English (with certain expanded dis-
closure) from the consolidated financial statements of the Company 
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accept-
ed in Japan and filed with the Financial Services Agency as required 
by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan.

The translation of the Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollars 
is prepared solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan, 
using the prevailing exchange rate at March 31, 2021, which was 
JPY 110.71 to USD 1.00. Such translation should not be construed 
as a representation that the Japanese yen amounts have been, 
could have been, or could in the future be, converted into U.S. 
dollars at this or any other rate of exchange. Certain amounts in 
the previous year’s financial statements have been reclassified to 
conform to the current fiscal year’s presentation.

Figures are rounded down to the nearest JPY 1,000,000 or 
USD 1,000.

2. Going concern assumption
There are no issues applicable to the going concern assumption.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(1) Consolidation
Names of significant subsidiaries (20 in total)

Leopalace Leasing Corporation
Plaza Guarantee Co., Ltd.
Leopalace Power Corporation
Leopalace Energy Corporation
ASUKA SSI
Leopalace21 Business Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
Leopalace21 (Thailand) CO., LTD.
Leopalace21 (Cambodia) Co., Ltd.
LEOPALACE21 PHILIPPINES INC.
PT. Leopalace Duasatu Realty
Leopalace21 Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Morizou Co., Ltd.
Azu Life Care Co., Ltd.
Leopalace Guam Corporation
Leopalace Smile Co., Ltd.

LEOPALACE21 VIETNAM CO., LTD., Enplus Inc. and another 
subsidiary have been excluded from the scope of consolidation 
in the consolidated fiscal year ended March 2021 because the 
Company has sold its all shares. WING MATE CO.,LTD. was dis-
solved and excluded from the scope of consolidation in the consol-
idated fiscal year ended March 2021.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements as of 
March 31, 2021 include the accounts of the Company and its 20 
(24 as of March 31, 2020) subsidiaries and four associated com-
panies Woori & Leo PMC Co., Ltd, Ancora Residential Fund LP, PT 
TEGUH BINA KARYA, and Learn JP Corp. in equity method (togeth-
er, “the Companies”). The fiscal year closing dates of these four 
companies are different from the consolidated balance sheet date. 
The respective financial statements of the Companies were used 
for consolidation.

The Company holds the shares in TRUMAN HOLDINGS 
LIMITED but did not include it in the companies where the 
Company applies the equity method for consolidation. The total 
assets, sales, net income (loss) and retained earnings both on an 
equity method basis and other items do not make material impact 
on the consolidated financial statements.

The balance sheet dates of Leopalace Guam Corporation and 
other 11 subsidiaries are all the same, being December 31. For the 
consolidated entities whose fiscal year ends different from that of 
the Company but within 3 months, their financial results are used 
in the preparation of consolidated financial statements. When 
significant transactions occur to those subsidiaries between their 
fiscal year ends and the Company’s fiscal year end, those transac-
tions are necessarily adjusted to consolidate.

(2) Cash and deposits or cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the Company con-
siders all highly liquid investments with insignificant risk of change 
in value and maturities of generally three months or less as cash 
and deposits. These include cash on hand, demand deposits at 
banks and highly liquid short-term investments with negligible risk 
of fluctuation in value and maturities of less than three months. 
Cash equivalents, on the other hand, is defined as those including 
maturities of greater than three months.

JPY million USD thousand (Note 1)

Notes 2021 2020 2021

Cash flows from investing activities:

Payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,328) (3,601) (21,029)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 4,167 32,057 37,645

Payment for purchase of intangible assets (509) (142) (4,605)

Proceeds from redemption of securities 5,600 — 50,582

Payment for purchase of investment securities (363) (1,082) (3,282)

Proceeds from sale of investment securities 4,341 8,213 39,210

Proceeds from liquidation of subsidiaries 18 — 163

Payments for sale of shares in subsidiaries due to change in 
scope of consolidation (92) (101) (835)

Proceeds from sale of shares in subsidiaries due to change in 
scope of consolidation 7 4,292 71

Payment for loans (36) (657) (328)

Proceeds from collection of loans 57 960 519

Payments for deposit of time deposits (4) (68) (44)

Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits 67 — 614

Other 904 (335) 8,171

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 11,829 39,533 106,852

Cash flows from financing activities:

Repayment of short-term debt (847) (222) (7,657)

Proceeds from long-term debt 30,234 — 273,099

Repayment of long-term debt (17,790) (2,767) (160,693)

Repayment of finance lease obligations (4,181) (5,093) (37,772)

Proceeds from issuance of shares 11,999 — 108,391

Proceeds from issuance of stock acquisition rights 215 — 1,946

Payment of funding costs (2,868) — (25,913)

Payment for redemption of bonds (8,103) (3,966) (73,191)

Proceeds from share issuance to non-controlling shareholders 15,000 — 135,489

Payment of dividends to non-controlling shareholders (87) — (790)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 0 0 1

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 23,571 (12,048) 212,908

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (154) 51 (1,394)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (5,570) (24,102) (50,313)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 58,916 83,019 532,170

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5 53,346 58,916 481,857
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Financial Section 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Leopalace21 Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020
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(3) Inventories
Real estate for sale and real estate for sale in process are primar-
ily stated at cost (presented in net book value less write-down 
when profitability declines) determined by the specific identifica-
tion method.

Costs on construction contracts in progress are primarily stated 
at cost determined by the specific identification method.

Raw materials and supplies are primarily stated at cost 
(presented in net book value less write-down when profitability 
declines) determined by the last purchase price method.

Cost of sales for the Development Business includes the 
reduced book value which is caused by the declined contribution of 
inventories to profitability.

JPY million USD thousand

Item 2021 2020 2021

Loss from inventory revaluation 41 634 376

(4) Securities
Held-to-maturity debt securities are stated at amortized cost 
(straight-line method).

Other securities with available fair values are stated at fair 
value at the end of the fiscal year of each consolidated company. 
Other securities without available fair values are stated at cost by 
the moving-average method.

Unrealized gains or losses on these securities are reported, net 
of income taxes, as a separate component of net assets. Cost of 
securities sold is computed using the moving-average method.

Investments in silent partnership are reported in the equity 
method, based on the latest financial statements available as at the 
closing dates stipulated by the respective partnership contracts.

(5) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Accounting principles are fair value method. But there is no deriv-
ative transaction with/without hedge accounting during the fiscal 
year ended March 2021.

(6) Property, plant and equipment (except for leased assets)
Property, plant and equipment for rent of the Company and domes-
tic consolidated subsidiaries are stated at cost. Depreciation is 
computed generally on the straight-line basis. The useful lives are 
principally from 22 to 47 years for buildings and structures for rent.

Property, plant and equipment other than above of the 
Company and domestic consolidated subsidiaries are stated at 
cost. Depreciation is computed generally by the declining-balance 
method. However, buildings (excluding facilities attached to build-
ings) obtained on or after April 1, 1998, and facilities attached to 
buildings and structures obtained on or after April 1, 2016, are 
depreciated by the straight-line method. The useful lives are prin-
cipally from 15 to 50 years for buildings and structures, 17 years 

for machinery, equipment and vehicles, and 5 to 10 years for tools, 
furniture and fixtures.

Property, plant and equipment of the consolidated overseas 
subsidiaries are depreciated by the straight-line method based 
on the local GAAP. The useful lives are principally from 20 to 40 
years for buildings and structures and from 3 to 5 years for tools, 
furniture and fixtures.

(7) Intangible fixed asset
Software for internal use is amortized on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful life of 5 years.

(8) Long-term prepaid expenses
Long-term prepaid expenses are amortized evenly over a period 
mainly from 5 to 7 years for master lease rent.

(9) Stock issue expenses
Stock issue expenses are charged to funding costs when incurred.

(10) Allowance for doubtful accounts
The Companies maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts to 
reserve for potentially uncollectible receivables. A provision for 
general doubtful receivables is provided by applying a certain 
reserve percentage of the receivables based on experience from 
past transactions. A specific allowance is recorded for the esti-
mated amount to be uncollectible based on the customers’ finan-
cial condition or other pertinent factors.

(11) Liability for retirement benefit
In conjunction with the calculation of retirement benefit obligations, 
the method for attributing projected retirement benefits for the 
period up to the current fiscal end is based on a straight-line basis.

Actuarial gains/losses, which are prorated according to the 
straight-line method over a specified period (5 years) within the 
average remaining service years of employees at the time of 
accrual, are amortized starting from the next fiscal year of the 
respective accruals. Unrecognized actuarial gains/losses are 
posted after tax effects, as the cumulative amount of adjustments 
attributed to accumulated other comprehensive income in the net 
assets. Certain consolidated subsidiaries have adopted a simpli-
fied method of calculation with liability for retirement benefits 
and retirement benefits expense. Under this simplified method, 
retirement benefit obligation is deemed to be equal to the amount 
which would be required to pay if all eligible employees voluntarily 
retire at the end of the fiscal year.

(12) Provision for losses related to repairs
In order to reserve for the losses related to repairs, an estimated 
amount of provision is recorded based on the defect rate, etc.

(i) The amount stated in the fiscal year ended March 2021

JPY million USD thousand

Fiscal year ended March 2021 2021

Provision for losses related repairs 
(current liabilities) 3,777 34,116

Provision for losses related repairs 
(non-current liabilities) 29,732 268,563

Total 33,509 302,679

(ii) Accounting estimates per item
The Company established the Emergency Headquarters for 
Construction Defects and carried out all-building investigations 
related to the announcement of parting wall defects in the 
attics in April 2018 and other defects in May 2018, in February 
and May 2019. The Company has been repairing the defects 
which were identified at the investigations to make them to 
comply with the related laws and regulations.

The Company provided the provision for losses related to 
repairs based on the assumed amount in accordance with the 
actual defects rate to be prepared for possible repair expenses 
and associated expenses for the apartment buildings construct-
ed by the Company. The Company has built the provision pro-
vided for repairing all the significant defects that the Company 
has recognized and there should not be any further expenses 
which may incur in the future.

The Company employed the following methods.
a.	 Repair expenses

Sort out the repairs by the types of defects and repair 
method and calculate the number of defective rooms based 
on the defective rate as a result of the all-building investi-
gations, which is then multiplied by the actual unit cost or 
estimated unit cost.

b.	 Leasing expenses
Estimate the number of months for leasing the apartment 
buildings which other companies manage but not the 
Company, which is then multiplied by the actual monthly rent.

c.	 Investigation expenses
Calculate the number of rooms which are yet to be investi-
gated and of which repair completion needs to be confirmed, 
which is then multiplied by the actual unit expenses for com-
mission payable to the first-class architects.

d.	 Relocation expenses
Calculate the number of rooms which other companies main-
ly manage, which is then multiplied by the actual unit cost 
for relocation.

The way of calculating the repair expenses and associated 
expenses has been changed from the unit cost which was based 
on own construction department’s estimate to the estimated unit 
cost prepared by the external construction companies. In addition, 

lowered unit repair cost was attributable to placing batch orders 
and by employing a new construction method, insourcing for a part 
of repair works, and impact from revised repairing plan.

In case of changes in conditions and assumptions based on 
which the estimate was prepared, provision for losses related to 
repairs may be changed in the consolidated financial statements 
for the fiscal year ending March 2022.

(13) Provision for apartment vacancy loss
Provision for vacancy losses on apartment units managed under 
master lease agreements is calculated according to the projected 
loss that could incur during a reasonably estimable period to pre-
pare for the risk of increasing vacancies. It is based on estimated 
losses resulting from current rental income and expected future 
occupancy rates for each rental property managed by the Leasing 
Business Division of the Company and included in the cost of sale 
of the Leasing Business Division.

(i) The amount stated in the fiscal year ended March 2021

JPY million USD thousand

Fiscal year ended March 2021 2021

Provision for apartment vacancy 
loss (current liabilities) 9,301 84,018

Provision for apartment vacancy 
loss (non-current liabilities) 2,960 26,741

Total 12,262 110,759

(ii) Accounting estimates per item
The Company employed below specific method for estimation. 
Compare the sum of revenue from the tenant for the rent and 
associated services considering the occupancy rate projection 
for individual apartments and sum of expenses which consist of 
master lease rent and management expenses. In case the sum 
of expenses exceeds the sum of revenue for a certain apart-
ment, multiply the monthly deficit by the remaining number of 
contract months.

The Company applied in the above calculation the revised 
master lease rent which is to be agreed with the apartment 
owners through consultation process, instead of actual master 
lease rent as of the end of March 2021.

The Company made occupancy rate projection considering 
the apartment’s surrounding conditions, room demand and 
impact of COVID-19 spread as step one; adjusted the step one 
result by taking account of the results of suspended tenant 
recruitment which may be required because of repair works as 
step two.

In case of changes in conditions and assumptions based 
on which the estimate was prepared, provision for apartment 
vacancy loss may be changed in the consolidated financial 
statements for the fiscal year ending March 2022.
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(14) Provision for warranty obligations on completed projects
Provision for warranty obligations on completed projects is accrued 
to reserve for execution of warranty obligations under defect liabil-
ities in the future. It is calculated using the percentage of the past 
execution of warranty obligations on the completed projects.

(15) Provision for fulfillment of guarantees
In order to reserve for losses due to its rent obligation guarantees 
business, the Company’s consolidated subsidiary, Plaza Guarantee 
Co., Ltd., records the amount of loss expected based on the rate of 
past guarantee fulfillments.

(16) Revenues and costs of construction contracts
In recognizing construction revenues and costs of constructions 
in process, the percentage-of-completion method is applied to 
such contracts in which the outcome of the construction activity is 
deemed certain by the end of the fiscal year, while the completed 
contract method is applied to other constructions. Progress rate 
of construction is estimated based on the method of the ratio of 
actual cost incurred to total estimated cost.

(17) Advances received
With respect to advances received, such as rent, the Company 
reports the portion corresponding to more than a year in “long-
term advances received” under “non-current liabilities,” and the 
portion corresponding to a year or less in “advances received” 
under “current liabilities.” This allows the Company to more 
clearly present the characteristics and actual transactions of the 
Company’s leasing business.

(18) Amortization method and period of goodwill
The Company has adopted a policy whereby goodwill is amortized 
on a straight-line basis over the period in which the economic 
benefits are expected to be realized. However, if the amount is 
negligible, it is amortized at once when it takes place.

(19) Income taxes
Income taxes comprise corporate, inhabitant and enterprise taxes.

The asset and liability approach is used to recognize deferred 
tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences 
of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 
used for income tax purposes.

(20) Leased assets
Leased assets are depreciated by the straight-line method over 
the lease-term of respective assets as their useful lives with no 
residual value.

(21) Foreign currency transactions
All monetary receivables and payables denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into Japanese yen at the spot exchange 
rates as of each balance sheet date. The foreign exchange gains 
and losses from translation are recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income.

(22) Foreign currency financial statements
The assets and liabilities of consolidated overseas subsidiaries 
are translated into Japanese yen at the spot exchange rates as of 
each balance sheet date, and income and expenses are translated 
at the average exchange rates of the fiscal year. Foreign currency 
translation adjustments resulting from the translation of assets, 
liabilities and net assets are reclassified into foreign currency 
translation adjustments and non-controlling interests.

(23) Interest capitalization
Leopalace Guam Corporation, a consolidated subsidiary, of which 
interest paid on borrowing for real estate development business 
for the development period capitalized into acquisition cost of 
property, plant and equipment.

Capitalized interests included in carrying value of property, 
plant and equipment were JPY 300 million (USD 2,712 thousand) 
as of March 31, 2021.

(24) Consumption taxes
National and local consumption taxes are basically excluded from 
transaction amounts. However, transaction amounts of Asuka SSI, 
a consolidated subsidiary, include national and local consumption 
taxes. The nondeductible portion of consumption taxes on the 
purchase of assets is recorded as long-term prepaid expenses and 
amortized evenly over 5 years.

(25) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share of common stock is computed by net 
income available to common shareholders divided by the weight-
ed-average number of common stock outstanding for the period.

Diluted earnings per share of common stock reflects the poten-
tial dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue 
common stock were converted or exercised into common stock or 
resulted in the issuance of common stock.

4. Additional Information
(1) �Unapplied Accounting Standards for Revenue Recognition 

and related Implementation Guidances
• �Accounting Standard for Revenue Recognition (ASBJ Statement 

No.29 issued on March 31, 2020 by Accounting Standards Board 
of Japan)

• �Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Revenue 
Recognition (ASBJ Guidance No.30 issued on March 26, 2021 by 
Accounting Standards Board of Japan)

• �Implementation Guidance on Disclosures about Fair Value of 
Financial Instruments (ASBJ Guidance No.19 issued on March 
31, 2020 by Accounting Standards Board of Japan)

(a) Summary
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) jointly developed 
the converged accounting standards for revenue recognition 
and announced, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” 
(IFRS 15 in IASB and Topic 606 in FASB) in May 2014. IFRS 15 
is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018 and Topic 606 is effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after December 15, 2017. Accounting 
Standards Board of Japan (ASBJ) then developed and 
announced ASBJ Statement No.29, ASBJ Guidance No.30 and 
ASBJ Guidance No.19 to progress with the change.

ASBJ developed the accounting standards for revenue 
recognition by adopting the basic rules in IFRS 15, for the basic 
policy that is to be consistent with IFRS 15 and to take advan-
tage of the financial compatibility with IFRS 15. Additionally, 
considering the accounting practices that Japan has carried out 
so far, substitutive treatments have been supplemented the 
new standard without affecting the financial comparability.

(b) Effective date
The new standards will be effective from the beginning of the 
fiscal year ending March 2022.

(c) �Impact of the application of the relevant accounting 
standards

The impact of the application of Accounting Standard for 
Revenue Recognition on consolidated financial statements is 
currently being evaluated.

(2) �Unapplied Accounting Standards for Fair Value 
Measurement and related Implementation Guidances

• �Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement (ASBJ 
Statement No.30 issued on July 4, 2019 by Accounting 
Standards Board of Japan)

• �Accounting Standard for Measurement of Inventories (ASBJ 
Standard No.9 issued on July 4, 2019 by Accounting Standards 
Board of Japan)

• �Accounting Standard for Financial Instruments (ASBJ Statement 
No.10 issued on July 4, 2019 by Accounting Standards Board of 
Japan)

• �Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value 
Measurement (ASBJ Guidance No.31 issued on July 4, 2019 by 
Accounting Standards Board of Japan)

• �Implementation Guidance on Disclosures about Fair Value of 
Financial Instruments (ASBJ Guidance No.19 issued on March 
31, 2020 by Accounting Standards Board of Japan)

(a) Summary
Considering nearly identical details of fair value measurement 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), namely IFRS 
13 “Fair Value Measurement” under International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Topic 820 of “Fair Value 
Measurement” in the Accounting Standards Codification under 
U.S. GAAP Accounting Standards, the Accounting Standards 
Board of Japan disclosed the “Accounting Standards for Fair 
Value Measurement” in an effort to ensure Japanese GAAP is 
consistent with international accounting principles principally 
with respect to the guidance and disclosures about fair value of 
financial instruments.

The Accounting Standards Board of Japan adopted a basic 
policy that a uniform calculation method should be employed 
in the development of the accounting standard for improving 
the comparability of financial statements between the com-
panies in and outside Japan and accepted the provisions of 
IFRS No. 13. In addition, the Accounting Standards Board of 
Japan accepted the other handling of individual items without 
affecting the financial comparability of financial statements, 
considering the accounting practices that had been conducted 
so far in Japan.

(b) Effective date
The new standards will be effective from the beginning of the 
fiscal year ending March 2022.

(c) �Impact of the application of the relevant accounting 
standards

The impact of the application of the Accounting Standard for 
Measurement of Fair Value on consolidated financial state-
ments has not been determined at this time.

(3) �Applied Accounting Standard for Disclosure of 
Accounting Estimates

Accounting Standards for the Disclosure of Accounting Estimates 
(ASBJ Statement No. 31 issued on March 31, 2020 by Accounting 
Standards Board of Japan) has been applied for the consolidated 
financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 2021 and 
notes are provided to the consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with the transitional handling stated in item 11 
provisory clause of ASBJ Statement No. 31, the impact to the pre-
vious fiscal year ended March 2020 is not mentioned in the notes.

(4) �Accounting estimates for the spread of COVID-19 and  
its impact

The Companies assume that the spread of COVID-19 and the 
resulting economic sluggishness will continue for the time being 
and affect their overall business.
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periodically investigates and understands the share price and 
the financial condition of the share issuing organization. In 
addition, for items other than held-to-maturity securities, the 
Company considers the relationship with the trading partner 
companies and constantly re-evaluates its holdings.

Trade payables and debts are exposed to liquidity risk, but 
this risk is monitored by various means such as the preparation 
of a monthly financial plan by each company in the Companies.

	 (d) �Supplementary explanations on fair value of  
financial instruments

Fair value of financial instruments is measured based on the 
quoted market price, or reasonably assessed value if a quoted 
market price is not available.

Fair value of financial instruments whose quoted market 
price is not available is calculated based on a fluctuating factor, 
and the value might differ if different assumptions are used.

(2) Fair value of financial instruments
The carrying value on the consolidated balance sheet and fair value of financial instruments as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 as well as the dif-
ferences between these values are described below. Financial instruments whose fair values appear to be extremely difficult to determine are 
not included in the table.

JPY million

March 31, 2021 Carrying value Fair value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits 54,863 54,863 —
(2) Trade receivables and accounts receivable for completed projects 8,455 8,455 —
(3) Securities and investment securities 638 643 5
(4) Operating loans 86

Allowance for doubtful accounts *(i) (3)
Net 83 91 8

(5) Long-term loans 1,096
Allowance for doubtful accounts *(i) (79)
Net 1,016 1,016 —

(6) Bad debts 249
Allowance for doubtful accounts *(i) (249)
Net — — —

Total 65,056 65,070 14
(1) Electronically recorded obligations 19 19 —
(2) Accounts payable and accounts payable for completed projects 3,687 3,687 —
(3) Accounts payable-other 9,593 9,593 —
(4) Long-term debt *(ii) 30,730 30,030 (699)
(5) Lease obligations 4,678 4,641 (37)

Total 48,709 47,972 (737)

*Notes:
(i)	� Operating loans, long-term loans and bad debts have deductions of their respective allowance for doubtful accounts, which are recorded separately.
(ii)	� As of March 31, 2021, current portion of long-term debt of JPY 144 million are included in long-term debt.

In particular the Leasing Business, our mainstay business, will 
remain weak due to suppressed job reassignment and reduced 
number of new hires by the corporate customers, prevailing online 
class lectures in the universities and restrictive immigration policy 
affecting the inbound foreign workers and students. Although the 
assumption is made that the spread of COVID-19 will lessen in 
the second half of the fiscal year ending March 2022, the impact 
remains for the rest of the fiscal year. Based on the assumption, 

accounting estimates such as the recoverability of deferred tax 
assets are made.

In the event of a change in the time for the ending of COVID-
19 pandemic and its impact on the economic environment due to 
uncertainty in the assumptions used in the estimates, this may 
have an impact on the companies’ financial position and results of 
operations.

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents
(1) �A reconciliation between cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of cash 

flows are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Cash and deposits in the consolidated balance sheet 54,863 60,501 495,559
Time deposits with original maturities of more than three months (1,517) (1,585) (13,702)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows 53,346 58,916 481,857

(2) �Major assets and liabilities related to the company which 
were excluded from consolidation as a result of the 
Company’s sale of shares in the company

For the year ended March 2021
None

The breakdown of assets and liabilities at the time of sale of shares 
in Life Living Co., Ltd., selling price and revenue from the sale, 
which excluded Life Living Co., Ltd. from consolidation, for the year 
ended March 31, 2020 were as follows.

JPY million

2020

Current assets 5,435
Non-current assets 722
Goodwill 953
Current liabilities (1,389)
Non-current liabilities (12)
Loss on sale of shares (2)
Sale value 5,706
Cash and cash equivalents (1,414)
Proceeds from sale 4,292

6. Financial Instruments
(1) The financial instruments and related disclosures
	 (a) Policy for financial instruments

The Companies are mainly involved in raising funds (mostly bank 
borrowing and corporate bond issuance) needed for planned 
capital investments excluding special cases. Temporary excess 
funds are invested in highly secured financial assets, and short-
term working capital is raised by borrowing from the bank.

	 (b) Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments
Operating receivables and loans outstanding are exposed to 
credit risk.

Foreign currency denominated debts and credits originated in 
conjunction with overseas business development are exposed to 
exchange rate risk.

Securities and investment securities are mainly held-to-ma-
turity securities and shares of the companies with which the 
Company has a business or capital alliance, and those securi-
ties are exposed to market risk and credit risk associated with 
the issuers.

Almost all electronically recorded obligations, accounts 
payable, accounts payable for completed projects which are 
operating liabilities, and account payable-other are scheduled to 
be paid within one year.

Loans payable are mainly for the purpose of raising funds 
necessary for the repair works, and lease obligations related to 
finance lease transactions are mainly for investment in facilities, 
and the longest repayment date is 6 years subsequent to the 
fiscal year end.

As of end of the year ended March 2021, there was no bal-
ance of derivative transactions.

	 (c) Risk management for financial instruments
Credit risk management for operating receivables and loans out-
standing follows the “Receivables management rules”. While 
each business division manages the extension of credit to its 
customers, and each division is also organized for early detec-
tion and loss reduction of accounts where collection is doubtful 
due to worsening credit or similar problems.

Regarding securities and investment securities, the Company 
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JPY million

March 31, 2020 Carrying value Fair value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits 60,501 60,501 —
(2) Trade receivables and accounts receivable for completed projects 7,792 7,792 —
(3) Securities and investment securities 2,713 2,724 10
(4) Operating loans 132

Allowance for doubtful accounts *(i) (5)
Net 126 140 13

(5) Long-term loans 1,025
Allowance for doubtful accounts *(i) (83)
Net 942 942 —

(6) Bad debts 225
Allowance for doubtful accounts *(i) (225)
Net — — —

Total 72,077 72,102 24
(1) Electronically recorded obligations 176 176 —
(2) Accounts payable and accounts payable for completed projects 4,622 4,622 —
(3) Accounts payable-other 14,935 14,935 —
(4) Short-term borrowings 847 847 —
(5) Bonds *(ii) 8,103 8,117 14
(6) Long-term debt *(ii) 18,310 18,436 126
(7) Lease obligations 8,877 9,705 828

Total 55,872 56,841 969

*Notes:
(i)	� Operating loans, long-term loans and bad debts have deductions of their respective allowance for doubtful accounts, which are recorded separately.
(ii)	� As of March 31, 2020, bonds due within one year of JPY 3,066 million, and current portion of long-term debt of JPY 2,659 million are included in 

long-term debt.

USD thousand

March 31, 2021 Carrying value Fair value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits 495,559 495,559 —
(2) Trade receivables and accounts receivable for completed projects 76,377 76,377 —
(3) Securities and investment securities 5,764 5,811 47
(4) Operating loans 779

Allowance for doubtful accounts *(i) (29)
Net 750 829 79

(5) Long-term loans 9,900
Allowance for doubtful accounts *(i) (718)
Net 9,181 9,181 —

(6) Bad debts 2,251
Allowance for doubtful accounts *(i) (2,251)
Net — — —

Total 587,632 587,760 127
(1) Electronically recorded obligations 176 176 —
(2) Accounts payable and accounts payable for completed projects 33,309 33,309 —
(3) Accounts payable-other 86,656 86,656 —
(4) Long-term debt *(ii) 277,574 271,254 (6,319)
(5) Lease obligations 42,261 41,923 (337)

Total 439,978 433,321 (6,657)

*Notes:
(i)	 Operating loans, long-term loans and bad debts have deductions of their respective allowance for doubtful accounts, which are recorded separately.
(ii)	 As of March 31, 2021, current portion of long-term debt of USD 1,033 thousand are included in long-term debt.

Notes:
(a) Matters concerning the calculation method for the fair value of financial instruments and securities

Assets
Cash and deposits
Trade receivables and accounts receivable for completed projects
These assets are stated at carrying amount as they are settled in the short-term and their fair values approximate their carrying amount.

Securities and investment securities
Shares are stated at the stock exchange quoted price; bonds are stated at either the stock exchange quoted price or the price presented 
by transacting financial institutions.

For notes to securities by holding purposes, please refer to “7. Securities”.

Operating loans
The fair value of operating loans is stated at the net present value, which is calculated by discounting the principal with interest by the 
discount rate (i.e. the estimated interest rate for new transaction).

Long-term loans
Bad debts
The fiscal year-end outstanding balances are calculated mainly using expected future cash flows of the potentially recoverable principal 
and interest.

Liabilities
Electronically recorded obligations
Accounts payable and accounts payable for completed projects
Account payable-other
These liabilities are stated at carrying amount as they are settled in the short-term and their fair values approximate their carrying amount.

Long-term debt,
Lease obligations
These liabilities are stated at the net present value, which is calculated by discounting the principal with interest by the discount rate (i.e. 
the estimated interest rate for new borrowings or lease transaction).

(b) Financial instruments whose fair value appear to be extremely difficult to recognize

JPY million USD thousand

Item 2021 2020 2021

Unlisted shares 1,757 2,935 15,871
Unconsolidated subsidiaries and associates 1,336 1,060 12,074
Unlisted bonds (subordinate corporate bonds) 824 6,424 7,445
Subordinate beneficiary rights to loans and accounts receivable in trust 861 866 7,784
Investments in silent partnership 113 114 1,023
Total 4,893 11,400 44,199

As they have no market value, and as it is understood that it is extremely difficult to estimate their future cash flow, the above financial 
instruments are not included in “Assets: (3) Securities and investment securities”.
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(c) �The scheduled redemption amounts of monetary claims and investment securities with maturity subsequent to fiscal year end

JPY million

March 31, 2021 Due within 1 year Due after 1 year 
through 5 years

Due after 5 years 
through 10 years

Due after
10 years

Cash and deposits 54,863 — — —
Trade receivables and accounts receivable for  

completed projects 8,455 — — —
Securities and investment securities

Held-to-maturity debt securities
(1) Government and municipal bonds 100 300 200 —
(2) Corporate bonds — — — —

Other securities with maturities
(1) Government and municipal bonds — — 36 —
(2) Bonds (Corporate bonds) — — — 824
(3) Others — — — 861

Operating loans 22 36 19 8
Long-term loans 14 606 12 462
Bad debts — — — 249
Total 63,456 942 268 2,406

JPY million

March 31, 2020 Due within 1 year Due after 1 year 
through 5 years

Due after 5 years 
through 10 years

Due after 
10 years

Cash and deposits 60,501 — — —

Trade receivables and accounts receivable for  
completed projects 7,792 — — —

Securities and investment securities

Held-to-maturity debt securities

(1) Government and municipal bonds 200 200 500 —

(2) Corporate bonds — — — —

Other securities with maturities

(1) Government and municipal bonds 150 — 36 —

(2) Bonds (Corporate bonds) 5,600 — — 824

(3) Others — — — 866

Operating loans 46 52 21 12

Long-term loans 145 414 18 447

Bad debts — — — 225

Total 74,436 666 575 2,376

USD thousand

March 31, 2021 Due within 1 year Due after 1 year 
through 5 years

Due after 5 years 
through 10 years

Due after 
10 years

Cash and cash equivalents 495,559 — — —

Trade receivables and accounts receivable for  
completed projects 76,377 — — —

Securities and investment securities

Held-to-maturity debt securities

(1) Government and municipal bonds 903 2,709 1,806 —

(2) Corporate bonds — — — —

Other securities with maturities

(1) Government and municipal bonds — — 325 —

(2) Bonds (Corporate bonds) — — — 7,445

(3) Others — — — 7,784

Operating loans 203 326 176 73

Long-term loans 129 5,480 113 4,177

Bad debts — — — 2,251

Total 573,173 8,516 2,421 21,732

(3) �Scheduled repayment amounts of bonds payable, long-term debt, lease obligations, and other interest-bearing debt subse-
quent to fiscal year end is as follows:

JPY million

March 31, 2021 Due within 
1 year

Due after 1 
through 2 years

Due after 2 
through 3 years

Due after 3 
through 4 years

Due after 4 
through 5 years

Due after 
5 years

Short-term borrowings — — — — — —

Bonds — — — — — —

Long-term debt 114 98 107 117 30,102 189

Lease obligations 3,133 1,178 276 70 19 —

Total 3,248 1,277 384 188 30,121 189

JPY million

March 31, 2020 Due within 
1 year

Due after 1 
through 2 years

Due after 2 
through 3 years

Due after 3 
through 4 years

Due after 4 
through 5 years

Due after 
5 years

Short-term borrowings 847 — — — — —

Bonds 3,066 3,066 1,971 — — —

Long-term debt 2,659 2,639 2,437 1,396 1,405 7,771

Lease obligations 4,344 3,113 1,151 238 28 —

Total 10,918 8,818 5,560 1,634 1,434 7,771

USD thousand

March 31, 2021 Due within 
1 year

Due after 1 
through 2 years

Due after 2 
through 3 years

Due after 3 
through 4 years

Due after 4 
through 5 years

Due after 
5 years

Short-term borrowings — — — — — —

Bonds — — — — — —

Long-term debt 1,033 893 973 1,062 271,902 1,707

Lease obligations 28,306 10.640 2,501 639 174 —

Total 29,339 11,534 3,475 1,701 272,076 1,707
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7. Securities
(1) �On March 31, 2021 and 2020, information with respect to held-to-maturity debt securities for which market prices are available 

is summarized as follows:

JPY million

March 31, 2021 Consolidated balance 
sheet amount Fair value Difference

Securities whose fair value exceeds the consolidated  
balance sheet amount:

Government and municipal bonds 602 607 5

Corporate bonds — — —

Others — — —

Subtotal 602 607 5

Securities whose fair value does not exceed the consolidated  
balance sheet amount:

Government and municipal bonds — — —

Corporate bonds — — —

Others — — —

Subtotal — — —

Total 602 607 5

JPY million

March 31, 2020 Consolidated balance 
sheet amount Fair value Difference

Securities whose fair value exceeds the consolidated  
balance sheet amount:

Government and municipal bonds 905 915 10

Corporate bonds — — —

Others — — —

Subtotal 905 915 10

Securities whose fair value does not exceed the consolidated  
balance sheet amount:

Government and municipal bonds — — —

Corporate bonds — — —

Others — — —

Subtotal — — —

Total 905 915 10

USD thousand

March 31, 2021 Consolidated balance 
sheet amount Fair value Difference

Securities whose fair value exceeds the consolidated  
balance sheet amount:
Government and municipal bonds 5,438 5,485 47
Corporate bonds — — —
Others — — —

Subtotal 5,438 5,485 47
Securities whose fair value does not exceed the consolidated  

balance sheet amount:
Government and municipal bonds — — —
Corporate bonds — — —
Others — — —

Subtotal — — —
Total 5,438 5,485 47

(2) Investment securities classified as other securities as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

JPY million

March 31, 2021 Consolidated balance 
sheet amount Acquisition cost Difference

Securities whose consolidated balance sheet amount exceeds  
their acquisition cost:
Stock — — —
Bonds:

Government and municipal bonds — — —
Corporate bonds — — —
Others — — —

Others — — —
Subtotal — — —

Securities whose consolidated balance sheet amount does not exceed 
their acquisition cost:
Stock — — —
Bonds:

Government and municipal bonds 36 36 (0)
Corporate bonds — — —
Others — — —

Others — — —
Subtotal 36 36 (0)
Total 36 36 (0)

Note:
March 31, 2021
Unlisted shares of JPY 1,757 million, shares in unconsolidated subsidiary and associates of JPY 1,336 million, unlisted bonds (corporate 
bonds and subordinate corporate bonds) of JPY 824 million, subordinate beneficiary rights to loans and accounts receivable in trust of JPY 
861 million, and investments in silent partnership of JPY 113 million, are not included in the other securities given above, because they have 
no fair value and assigning them fair market prices is recognized to be extremely difficult. The Company acquired the unlisted bonds (subor-
dinate corporate bonds) and the subordinate beneficiary rights to loans and accounts receivable in trust, as a result of the securitization of 
non-recourse apartment loans that financial institutions had loaned to clients as funds for paying construction charges to the Company.
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JPY million

March 31, 2020 Consolidated balance 
sheet amount Acquisition cost Difference

Securities whose consolidated balance sheet amount exceeds  
their acquisition cost:
Stock 1,610 100 1,510

Bonds:

Government and municipal bonds 112 111 0

Corporate bonds — — —

Others — — —

Others — — —

Subtotal 1,722 211 1,510

Securities whose consolidated balance sheet amount does not exceed 
their acquisition cost:
Stock 12 13 (0)

Bonds:

Government and municipal bonds 74 74 (0)

Corporate bonds — — —

Others — — —

Others — — —

Subtotal 86 87 (0)

Total 1,808 299 1,509

Note:
March 31, 2020
Unlisted shares of JPY 2,935 million, shares in unconsolidated subsidiary and associates of JPY 1,060 million, unlisted bonds (corporate 
bonds and subordinate corporate bonds) of JPY 6,424 million, subordinate beneficiary rights to loans and account receivable in trust of JPY 
866 million, and investments in silent partnership of JPY 114 million, are not included in the other securities given above, because they have 
no fair value and assigning them fair market prices is recognized to be extremely difficult. The Company acquired the unlisted bonds (subor-
dinate corporate bonds) and the subordinate beneficiary rights to loans and accounts receivable in trust, as a result of the securitization of 
non-recourse apartment loans that financial institutions had loaned to clients as funds for paying construction charges to the Company.

USD thousand

March 31, 2021 Consolidated balance 
sheet amount Acquisition cost Difference

Securities whose consolidated balance sheet amount exceeds  
their acquisition cost:
Stock — — —
Bonds:

Government and municipal bonds — — —
Corporate bonds — — —
Others — — —

Others — — —
Subtotal — — —

Securities whose consolidated balance sheet amount does not exceed 
their acquisition cost:
Stock — — —
Bonds:

Government and municipal bonds 326 328 (2)
Corporate bonds — — —
Others — — —

Others — — —
Subtotal 326 328 (2)
Total 326 328 (2)

Note:
March 31, 2021
Unlisted shares of USD 15,871 thousand, shares in unconsolidated subsidiary and associates of USD 12,074 thousand, unlisted bonds (corpo-
rate bonds and subordinate corporate bonds) of USD 7,445 thousand, subordinate beneficiary rights to loans and accounts receivable in trust 
of USD 7,784 thousand, and investments in silent partnership of USD 1,023 thousand, are not included in the other securities given above, 
because they have no fair value and assigning them fair market prices is recognized to be extremely difficult. The Company acquired the 
unlisted bonds (subordinate corporate bonds) and the subordinate beneficiary rights to loans and accounts receivable in trust, as a result of 
the securitization of non-recourse apartment loans that financial institutions had loaned to clients as funds for paying construction charges 
to the Company.

(3) �Proceeds from sales of other securities and gain or loss on these sales for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 are sum-
marized as follows:

JPY million

March 31, 2021 Proceeds from sale Gain on sale in total Loss on sale in total

Stock 5,151 4,065 114
Bonds:

Government and municipal bonds — — —
Corporate bonds — — —
Others — — —

Others — — —
Total 5,151 4,065 114
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JPY million

March 31, 2020 Proceeds from sale Gain on sale in total Loss on sale in total

Stock 4,782 2,368 —

Bonds:

Government and municipal bonds — — —

Corporate bonds — — —

Others — — —

Others 3,400 977 —

Total 8,182 3,346 —

USD thousand

March 31, 2021 Proceeds from sale Gain on sale in total Loss on sale in total

Stock 46,535 36,717 1,029
Bonds:

Government and municipal bonds — — —
Corporate bonds — — —
Others — — —

Others — — —
Total 46,535 36,717 1,029

(4) �Investment in non-consolidated subsidiaries and associates included in investment securities of the consolidated balance 
sheet is as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Investment securities (stocks) 1,336 1,060 12,074

Of which, investment in joint venture 83 77 755

8. Derivative Transactions
(1) Derivative transaction not subjected to the application of hedge accounting
For the year ended March 31, 2021
None

For the year ended March 31, 2020
None

(2) Derivative transaction subjected to the application of hedge accounting
For the year ended March 31, 2021
None

For the year ended March 31, 2020
None

9. Main Properties
(1) Breakdown of major property, plant and equipment:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Residential properties for rent 3,303 7,334 29,834

Domestic hotels — 1,401 —

Head office and branches 24,097 25,940 217,665

Leopalace Resort Manenggon Hills Guam 19,412 21,586 175,348

Leopalace Power (solar power systems) 7,861 8,896 71,013

(2) �Due to acceptance of national subsidies, the following reduction entry amount is deducted from the acquisition cost of relevant assets:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Machinery, equipment, and vehicles 155 155 1,400

Other (non-current assets) 44 — 405

(3) The Companies recognize impairment loss on the following asset groups for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:
March 31, 2021

Purpose Category Location
Impairment loss

JPY million USD thousand

Rental assets (Apartment build-
ings and others, 18 units)

Building and Structures Hakata-ku, Fukuoka-shi etc. 1,254 11,329

Land 2,299 20,773

Hotel Land Chigusa-ku, Nagoya-shi 82 746

Rental assets  
(Serviced apartment)

Building and Structures Sriracha District, Chonburi, 
Thailand

177 1,602

Land 110 996

Others (non-current assets) 1 9

Shared assets Others (non-current assets) Elderly Care Business Division, 
Koga-shi, Ibaraki, etc. 8 73

Others Goodwill — 107 973

Total 4,041 36,505

The Companies recognized each property in domestic rental 
assets as a unit, and group the overseas assets by managerial 
accounting segmentation. In addition, assets owned by some con-
solidated subsidiaries are grouped on a company basis.

The Companies wrote down book values of rental assets and a 
hotel which were determined to be sold and rental assets whose 
profitability significantly declined, to recoverable amount and rec-
ognized the reduced values as impairment losses.

Recoverable amount of rental assets and a hotel are measured 
in their net realizable values.

For the domestic business, which has been in a continuous 

operating loss, the book values of shared assets were reduced 
to the recoverable amount, and the amount of the reduction was 
recorded as impairment loss.

The recoverable amount of shared assets is measured accord-
ing to the net selling price based on the value in use.

In addition, for the goodwill posted when the Company 
acquired Enplus Inc., the Company recorded all of the unamortized 
balance of the goodwill as impairment loss because profitability in 
the original business plan examined at the time of acquisition was 
no longer expected.
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March 31, 2020

Purpose Category Location
Impairment loss

JPY million

Rental assets (Apartment build-
ings and others, 3 units)

Land Minami-ku, Yokohama-shi etc.
285

Hotel Buildings and Structures Chigusa-ku, Nagoya-shi 298

Land 941

Construction in progress 41

Resort facilities Buildings and Structures Guam 2,749

Land 1,068

Rental assets
(Serviced apartments)

Buildings and Structures Bangkok, Thailand 191

Land 111

Rental assets
(Serviced apartments)

Buildings and Structures Phnom Penh, Cambodia
693

Business assets Software Nakano-ku, Tokyo 45

Shared assets Buildings and Structures Construction Subcontracting 
Division, Nakano-ku, Tokyo etc.

102

Land 59

Shared assets Buildings and Structures Elderly Care Division,  
Kanuma-shi, Tochigi etc. 51

Others Goodwill — 982

Total 7,620

The Companies recognized each property in domestic rental 
assets as a unit, domestic shared assets as a business division, 
and group the overseas assets by managerial accounting segmen-
tation. In addition, the Companies group by company the assets 
which a part of consolidated subsidiaries possess.

The Companies wrote down book values of rental assets, a 
hotel, resort facilities, and others whose profitability significantly 
declined, to recoverable amount and recognized the reduced val-
ues as impairment losses.

Recoverable amount of rental assets, a hotel, and others are 
measured in the higher of their values in use or their net realizable 
values. Recoverable amount of overseas real estates for lease and 
resort facilities was based on the appraisal value by a real estate 
appraiser. Value in use is computed by discounting its future cash 

flows at 5.7%, while net realizable value is determined based on 
publicly appraised value.

For the domestic business, which has been in a continuous 
operating loss, the book values of shared assets were reduced 
to the recoverable amount, and the amount of the reduction was 
recorded as impairment loss.

The recoverable amount of shared assets is measured based on 
the net selling price based on the value in use and posted prices.

In addition, for the goodwill posted when the Company 
acquired Morizou Co. Ltd., the Company recorded all of the 
unamortized balance of the goodwill as impairment loss because 
profitability in the original business plan examined at the time of 
acquisition was no longer expected.

10. Bad Debts
Bad debts are claims as stipulated under Article 32, Paragraph 1, and Item 10 of the Regulation concerning Financial Statements. Bad debts 
on March 31, 2021 and 2020 consist of the following:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Bad debts 70 70 638

Others 178 154 1,613

Total 249 225 2,251

11. Income Taxes
(1) Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Deferred tax assets:
Loss carried forward for tax purposes *(ii) 51,292 42,165 463,306
Provision for losses related to repairs 10,260 17,223 92,680
Impairment loss 5,627 7,288 50,827
Provision for apartment vacancy loss 3,754 4,870 33,914
Retirement benefit liability 2,957 4,346 26,715
Provision for fulfillment of guarantees 962 415 8,698
Advances received 720 683 6,510
Elimination of unrealized gain 455 513 4,116
Excess amortization on software 262 377 2,374
Allowance for doubtful accounts 260 332 2,348
Advances from customers 184 254 1,665
Deposits received 164 202 1,485
Asset retirement obligations 118 145 1,066
Accounts payable - other 84 168 767
Others 1,283 1,667 11,591
Sub total 78,390 80,655 708,070
Valuation allowance for tax loss carryforwards *(ii) (51,274) (42,045) (463,143)
Valuation allowance for deductible temporary differences (24,893) (36,769) (224,850)
Less: valuation allowance *(i) (76,167) (78,814) (687,993)
Total deferred tax assets 2,222 1,840 20,076

Deferred tax liabilities:
Provision for special depreciation (20) (66) (189)
Net unrealized gain on other securities — (462) —
Fixed asset retirement expenses (17) (19) (158)
Total deferred tax liabilities (38) (548) (346)

Net deferred tax assets 2,184 1,292 19,730

*Notes:
(i)	� The valuation allowance decreased by JPY 2,646 million from the previous fiscal year. The increase was JPY 9,229 million in valuation 

allowance for loss carryforwards due to disappointing business result whereas major decreases were JPY 6,962 million in valuation 
allowance for provision for losses related to repairs, JPY 1,421 million in valuation allowance for retirement benefit liability, JPY 1,123 
million in valuation allowance for impairment loss as a result of sale of own properties during the previous fiscal year and JPY 2,368 mil-
lion in valuation allowance for temporary differences.
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(ii)	 Loss carryforwards for tax purposes and deferred tax assets carried forward by due date.

JPY million

March 31, 2021 Due within  
1 year

Due after 1 
through 2 years

Due after 2 
through 3 years

Due after 3 
through 4 years

Due after 4 
through 5 years

Due after  
5 years Total

Tax loss carryforwards *(i) 4,566 611 762 1,035 769 43,546 51,292

Valuation allowance (4,566) (611) (762) (1,035) (767) (43,530) (51,274)

Deferred tax asset — — — — 2 15 18*(ii)

*Notes:
(i)	� Tax loss carryforwards are calculated by multiplying the statutory tax rate.
(ii)	� Deferred tax assets of JPY 18 million are recorded for tax loss carryforwards of JPY 51,292 million (the amount multiplied by the statuto-

ry tax rate).The Company does not recognize a valuation allowance for such tax loss carryforwards to the extent that it is deemed recov-
erable based on projected future taxable income.

JPY million

March 31, 2020 Due within  
1 year

Due after 1 
through 2 years

Due after 2 
through 3 years

Due after 3 
through 4 years

Due after 4 
through 5 years

Due after  
5 years Total

Tax loss carryforwards *(iii) 7,197 4,596 664 816 1,174 27,717 42,165

Valuation allowance (7,197) (4,596) (664) (816) (1,103) (27,666) (42,045)

Deferred tax asset — — — — 70 50 120*(iv)

*Notes:
(iii)	�Tax loss carryforwards are calculated by multiplying the statutory tax rate.
(iv)	�Deferred tax assets of JPY 120 million are recorded for tax loss carryforwards of JPY 42,165 million (the amount multiplied by the stat-

utory tax rate).The Company does not recognize a valuation allowance for such tax loss carryforwards to the extent that it is deemed 
recoverable based on projected future taxable income.

USD thousand

March 31, 2021 Due within  
1 year

Due after 1 
through 2 years

Due after 2 
through 3 years

Due after 3 
through 4 years

Due after 4 
through 5 years

Due after  
5 years Total

Tax loss carryforwards *(v) 41,246 5,526 6,890 9,351 6,953 393,337 463,306

Valuation allowance (41,246) (5,526) (6,890) (9,351) (6,932) (393,195) (463,143)

Deferred tax asset — — — — 21 141 163*(vi)

*Notes:
(v)	 Tax loss carryforwards are calculated by multiplying the statutory tax rate.
(vi)	�Deferred tax assets of USD 163 thousand dollars are recorded for tax loss carryforwards of USD 463,306 thousand (the amount multi-

plied by the statutory tax rate).The Company does not recognize a valuation allowance for such tax loss carryforwards to the extent that 
it is deemed recoverable based on projected future taxable income.

(Changes in significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities)
The items of Loss on valuation of real estate for sale, accrued enterprise tax, loss on valuation of property, plant and equipment, provision 
for warranty obligations on completed project, sales promotion cost, and accrued bonuses were individually shown in deferred tax assets 
for the previous fiscal year. Since the amount of each item became immaterial for the fiscal year ended March 2021, they were included in 
others. Notes for March31, 2020 reflected the changes.

Consequently, loss on valuation of real estate for sale of JPY 206 million, accrued enterprise tax of JPY 100 million, provision for war-
ranty obligations on completed project of JPY 57 million, sales promotion cost of JPY 8 million and accrued bonuses of JPY 7 million were 
classified in others.

(2) �Reconciliation of the differences between the normal effective statutory tax rate and the actual effective tax rate for the year 
ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:

Information concerning reconciliation of the differences between the normal effective statutory tax rate and the actual effective tax rate is 
omitted, since net losses before tax were recorded in March 2020 and March 2021.

12. Short-term Borrowings and Long-term Debt
(1) Short-term borrowings, long-term debt and lease obligations on March 31, 2021 and 2020 consist of the following:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Short-term borrowings — 847 —

Current portion of long-term debt, with average interest rate of 4.26% 114 2,659 1,033

Current portion of lease obligations, with average interest rate of 2.69% 3,133 4,344 28,306

Long-term debt, due 2022 to 2027, with average interest rate of 14.34% 30,615 15,650 276,540

Long-term lease obligations, due 2022 to 2026, with average interest rate of 3.04% 1,544 4,532 13,955

Total 35,409 28,034 319,835

Note:
The average interest rates above are calculated in weighted average in terms of the fiscal year-end balance of the borrowings and debts. 
Please note, however, that the current portion of lease obligations and lease obligations (net of the current portion) are recorded in the con-
solidated balance sheet in the amount before deducting the interest portion from total lease liabilities for certain consolidated subsidiaries, 
and that such lease obligations are not included in the calculation of the average interest rate.

(2) �The amounts of long-term debt and lease obligations (excluding their current portion) scheduled for repayment in five years 
from fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 are as follows:

JPY million

Due after 1 through 2 years Due after 2 through 3 years Due after 3 through 4 years Due after 4 through 5 years

Long-term debt 98 107 117 30,102

Lease obligations 1,178 276 70 19

USD thousand

Due after 1 through 2 years Due after 2 through 3 years Due after 3 through 4 years Due after 4 through 5 years

Long-term debt 893 973 1,062 271,902

Lease obligations 10,640 2,501 639 174

(3) Assets pledged as collateral for short-term borrowings and long-term debt on March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Cash and deposits 126 130 1,145

Real estate for sale 37 — 342

Others (current assets) 242 251 2,191

Buildings and structures 5,094 54 46,014

Machinery, equipment, and vehicles 45 83 408

Land 24,988 — 225,708

Others (intangible fixed assets) 1,010 730 9,126

Investment securities 2,339 36 21,132

Others (investments and other assets) 100 108 904

Total 33,985 1,395 306,975
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(4) Liabilities with collateral at March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Current portion of long-term debt 65 76 591

Long-term debt 30,437 629 274,925

Total 30,502 706 275,517

Note:
Within the assets pledged as collateral, cash and deposits, others (current assets) and JPY 36 million in investment securities are pledged as 
collateral for investees of consolidated subsidiaries and lenders of client’s housing loans, and there are no liabilities with collateral.

(5) �Securities and investment securities which have been deposited with the Legal Affairs Bureau on March 31, 2021 and 2020 are 
as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Deposit for housing construction warranty 788 1,156 7,118

Advanced payment certificate in accordance with Payment Services Act 332 628 2,998

Deposit for operation stipulated in Building Lots and  
Buildings Transaction Business Act 100 95 908

Deposit for business security under the Insurance Business Act 201 120 1,815

Deposit for housing defect warranty 109 109 984

Others 2 9 21

(6) Bond balances on March 31, 2021 and 2020 consist of the following:

JPY million USD thousand

Company name Name of bond Issuance date 2021 2020 2021

Leopalace21 Corporation 14th unsecured straight bond September 30, 2015 —
(—)

4,403
(1,666)

—
(—)

Leopalace21 Corporation 15th unsecured straight bond September 30, 2015 —
(—)

3,700
(1,400)

—
(—)

Total —
(—)

8,103
(3,066)

—
(—)

Notes:
(i)	 Figures in parentheses represent the current portion.
(ii)	 The corporate bonds were redeemed on November 11, 2020, prior to the maturity date.

Company name Name of bond Interest rate (%) Collateral Date of maturity

Leopalace21 Corporation 14th unsecured straight bond 0.13 None September 30, 2022

Leopalace21 Corporation 15th unsecured straight bond 0.63 None September 30, 2022

13. Retirement Benefit Plans
(1) Outline of retirement benefit plans
The Companies have an unfunded defined benefit pension plan 
and a defined contribution pension plan to provide for employees’ 
retirement benefits. The defined benefit plan is a lump-sum retire-
ment distribution plan (unfunded, but certain plans are funded as 
the Companies have adopted a retirement benefit trust for the 
lump-sum retirement distribution plan), and the amounts of retire-
ment benefits are provided mainly based on accumulated points in 

reference to job level and length of service.
Also, retirement allowances may be paid with a premium for 

retired employees.
Certain consolidated subsidiaries have adopted a simplified 

method in calculating the liability for retirement benefits and 
retirement benefit liabilities expense. Since the amount is immate-
rial, it is included in following notes based on the general rule.

(2) Defined benefit pension plan
(a) List of adjustments between the balances of retirement benefit obligations at the beginning and end of year are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Beginning balance of retirement benefit obligations 13,576 13,215 122,631

Service cost 1,159 1,468 10,470

Interest cost 48 67 440

Actuarial gains and losses accrued 68 11 622

Retirement benefits paid (742) (1,186) (6,710)

Decrease due to a large number of leavers (4,451) — (40,209)

Others (8) — (76)

Closing balance of retirement benefit obligations 9,650 13,576 87,167

(b) List of adjustments between the balances of pension assets at the beginning and end of year are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Beginning balance of pension assets 4,874 5,001 44,031

Expected return on plan assets 28 111 254

Actuarial gains and losses accrued (5) (238) (47)

Retirement benefits paid (62) — (567)

Decrease due to large number of leavers (4,834) — (43,672)

Closing balance of pension assets — 4,874 —

(c) �List of adjustments between the closing balances of retirement benefit obligations and pension assets and the liabilities and 
assets related to the retirement benefit posted in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Funded retirement benefit obligations — 13,576 —

Pension assets — (4,874) —

— 8,701 —

Unfunded retirement benefit obligations 9,650 — 87,167

Net amount of the liabilities and assets posted in the consolidated balance sheet 9,650 8,701 87,167

Liability for retirement benefit 9,650 8,701 87,167

Net amount of the liabilities and assets posted in the consolidated balance sheet 9,650 8,701 87,167
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(d) Retirement benefit expenses and breakdown amounts are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Service cost 1,159 1,468 10,470

Interest cost 48 67 440

Expected return on plan assets (28) (111) (254)

Amortization of actuarial gain or loss 434 175 3,926

Retirement benefit expenses related to the defined benefit plan 1,614 1,599 14,582

Premium severance pay (Note) 2,479 227 22,392

Loss on partial termination of retirement benefit plan (Note) 427 — 3,861

Note:
Premium severance pay and loss on partial termination of retirement benefit plan are recorded as special severance allowance and retire-
ment benefit cost in extraordinary losses.

(e) Items posted as the remeasurements of defined benefit plans (before tax effects) are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Actuarial gains/losses (403) 73 (3,645)

Total (403) 73 (3,645)

(f) Cumulative items posted as the remeasurements of defined benefit plans (before tax effects) are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Unrecognized actuarial gains/losses 142 546 1,288

Total 142 546 1,288

(g) Matters concerning pension assets are as follows:
(1) Major components of pension assets

2021 2020

Bonds — 99%
Shares — —
Others — 1%
Total — 100%

Note:
Total of pension assets is the amount contributed to retirement benefits trust from the lump-sum retirement distribution plan. The Company 
cancelled the retirement benefits trust during the fiscal year ended March 2021.

(2) Method of determining the long-term expected rate of return
There was nothing applicable as the Company cancelled the retirement benefits trust.

(h) Main calculation basis for actuarial assumptions are as follows (shown as weighted average):

2021 2020

Discount rate 0.03 – 0.81% 0.03 – 0.89%
Expected long-term rate of return on pension assets —% 1.43%

(3) Defined contribution pension plan
The necessary contribution amount for the defined contribution plan was JPY 408 million (USD 3,687 thousand) and JPY 566 million for the 
years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

14. Stock Options
(1) Stock option expenses recorded relating to stock options:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Selling, general and administrative expenses — 15 —

(2) Gain recorded relating to unused and expired share subscription rights

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Gain on reversal of share subscription rights — 17 —

(3) Outline of stock options and activities are as follows:
(a) Outline of stock options:

2016 Stock Option 2017 Stock Option 2018 Stock Option

Title and number  
of grantees

8 Directors  
(excluding outside Directors) 
and 12 executive officers of 
Leopalace21 Corporation

8 Directors  
(excluding outside Directors) 
and 15 executive officers of 
Leopalace21 Corporation,  
and 9 Directors of subsidiaries

8 Directors  
(excluding outside Directors) 
and 16 executive officers of 
Leopalace21 Corporation,  
and 15 Directors of subsidiaries

Type and number  
of stock options* Common stock: 252,700 shares Common stock: 282,800 shares Common stock: 348,000 shares

Grant date August 18, 2016 September 14, 2017 September 14, 2018

Vesting conditions Not applicable vesting conditions 
are specified

Not applicable vesting conditions 
are specified

Not applicable vesting conditions 
are specified

Vesting period Not applicable period of  
service is specified

Not applicable period of  
service is specified

Not applicable period of  
service is specified

Exercise period From August 19, 2016 to  
August 18, 2046

From September 15, 2017 to 
September 14, 2047

From September 15, 2018 to 
September 14, 2048

* Note:
Reported by converting to the number of shares
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(b) Stock option transactions:
Number of stock options as of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 is reported by converting to the number of shares.

Number of stock options:

2016 Stock Option 2017 Stock Option 2018 Stock Option

Non-vested (number of shares)

Previous fiscal year-end — — —

Granted — — —

Forfeited — — —

Vested — — —

Outstanding — — —

Vested (number of shares)

Previous fiscal year-end 171,000 190,300 225,900

Vested — — —

Exercised 61,500 68,800 79,300

Forfeited — 400 —

Outstanding 109,500 121,100 146,600

Price information (JPY):

2016 Stock Option 2017 Stock Option 2018 Stock Option

Exercise price 1 1 1

Average stock price at exercise 212 212 199

Fair value at the grant date 547 528 332

(4) Estimate method of fair value of stock options:
None

(5) Estimate method of the number of stock options vested:
Due to the difficulty in rationally estimating the actual number of stock options that will be forfeited in the future, the actual number of for-
feited stock options is adopted in the estimate.

15. Gain on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment
Gain on sale of non-current assets for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Buildings and structures 12 3,137 115
Machinery, equipment, and vehicles 0 0 3
Land 212 5,808 1,916
Total 225 8,945 2,035

16. Loss on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment
Loss on sale of non-current assets for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Buildings and structures 4 697 40
Machinery, equipment, and vehicles — 0 —
Land 13 274 123
Others (Property, plant and equipment) 0 — 1
Total 18 972 165

17. Loss on Retirement of Non-current Assets
Loss on disposal of non-current assets for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Buildings and structures 52 64 477
Machinery, equipment, and vehicles 3 1 34
Leased assets 7 0 68
Others (Property, plant and equipment) 11 3 104
Others (Intangible fixed asset) 38 1 344
Total 114 71 1,029

18. Loss related to repairs
For the year ended March 2020 and the year ended March 2021, repair costs and incidental expenses are incurred as repair works to the 
defect properties constructed by the Company.

19. Provision for losses related to repairs
For the year ended March 2021
None

For the year ended March 2020, the Company recorded the provision for estimated losses related to repairs based on the rate of construc-
tion defects and other factors in order to prepare for the repair costs and incidental expenses for the construction defects related to the 
properties constructed by the Company.

20. Reversal of provision for losses related to repairs
The reversal of provision was made reflecting a lowered unit repair cost placing batch orders and by employing a new construction method 
for the fiscal year ended March 2021.

For the fiscal year ended March 2020
None
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21. Special severance allowance
For the year ended March 2021, the special severance allowance was paid to the employees who left the Company by applying for the volun-
tary retirement program.

For the year ended March 2020, the special severance allowance was paid to the employees who left the Company as a result of sale of 
the three domestic hotels in Sapporo, Sendai and Hakata.

22. �Repair expenses
For the year ended March 2021
None

For the year ended March 2020, the repair expenses were related to the repairs conducted for the properties which were sold in the previous 
fiscal years.

23. Rental Properties
The Companies possesses rental apartments in major cities and 
regions throughout Japan. Some subsidiaries possess serviced 
apartments in addition to rental residences and office buildings. 
For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, income arising from 
these rental properties are JPY 502 million (USD 4,539 thousand) 
and JPY 910 million, and impairment losses are JPY 3,843 million 

(USD 34,712 thousand) and JPY 1,407 million, respectively.
Furthermore, the changes in book value of rental properties 

during the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, and the fair 
value as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 and increase (decrease) 
during the period are as follows:

March 31, 2021

JPY million

Balance as of April 1, 2020 Increase/(Decrease) Balance as of March 31, 2021 Fair value as of March 31, 2021

13,886 (5,793) 8,092 10,859

March 31, 2020

JPY million

Balance as of April 1, 2019 Increase/(Decrease) Balance as of March 31, 2020 Fair value as of March 31, 2020

27,036 (13,150) 13,886 17,585

March 31, 2021

USD thousand

Balance as of April 1, 2020 Increase/(Decrease) Balance as of March 31, 2021 Fair value as of March 31, 2021

125,427 (52,333) 73,093 98,090

Notes:
(i)	� Book values recorded on the consolidated balance sheets are the amount after deducting accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment loss from acquisition cost.
(ii)	� For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, the main decreases are due to the sale of rental properties of JPY2,085 million (USD 

18,833 thousand) and JPY 11,714 million, and impairment losses of JPY 3,843 million (USD 34,712 thousand) and JPY 1,407 million, 
respectively.

(iii)	Fair values as of the end of the fiscal years are calculated by the Company mainly based on “Real-estate appraisal standards”.

24. Asset Retirement Obligations
Disclosure is omitted due to immateriality in the consolidated financial statements.

25. Supplemental Information to the Statement of Changes in Equity
(1) Main changes in equity for the year ended March 31, 2021
(a) Shares issued and treasury stocks for the year ended March 31, 2021 are as follows:

Shares

Type of shares April 1, 2020 Increase Decrease March 31, 2021

Shares issued  
Common stock *(i) 244,882,515 84,507,000 — 329,389,515

Total 244,882,515 84,507,000 — 329,389,515

Treasury stock  
Common stock *(ii) 771,210 — 209,600 561,610

Total 771,210 — 209,600 561,610

*Notes:
(i)	 An increase of 84,507 thousand shares in common stock is resulting from the third party allotment with the payment due on November 2, 2020.
(ii)	 A decrease of 209 thousand shares in treasury stock is due to exercise of subscription rights to shares.

(b) Stock acquisition rights (SAR) and treasury share acquisition rights for the year ended March 31, 2021 are as follows:

Type
Class of shares 

issued upon 
exercise of SARs

Number of shares issued upon exercise of SARs Outstanding as of March 31, 2021

April 1, 2020 Increase Decrease March 31, 2021 JPY million USD thousand

5th series SAR* Common stock — 159,748,700 — 159,748,700 215 1,947

SARs as stock option — — — — — 172 1,558

Total — — 159,748,700 — 159,748,700 388 3,506

*Note:
An increase of 159,748 thousand shares was from new shares issuance in exercise of new share acquisition rights.

(c) Matters concerning dividends for the year ended March 31, 2021 are as follows:
None

There are no dividends with record dates in the consolidated fiscal year ended March 2021 but with effective dates in the following fiscal year.

(2) Main changes in equity for the year ended March 31, 2020
(a) Shares issued and treasury stocks for the year ended March 31, 2020 are as follows:

Shares

Type of shares April 1, 2019 Increase Decrease March 31, 2020

Shares issued  
Common stock 244,882,515 — — 244,882,515

Total 244,882,515 — — 244,882,515

Treasury stock  
Common stock 1,067,510 — 296,300* 771,210

Total 1,067,510 — 296,300* 771,210

*Note:
A decrease of 296 thousand shares in treasury stock is resulting from the exercise of subscription rights to shares.
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(b) Stock acquisition rights (SAR) and treasury share acquisition rights for the year ended March 31, 2020 are as follows:

Type
Class of shares 

issued upon 
exercise of SARs

Number of shares issued upon exercise of SARs
Outstanding as of 
March 31, 2020

April 1, 2019 Increase Decrease March 31, 2020 JPY million

SARs as stock option — — — — — 269

Total — — — — — 269

(c) Matters concerning dividends for the year ended March 31, 2020 are as follows:
None

There were no dividends with record dates in the consolidated fiscal year ended March 2020 but with effective dates in the following fiscal year.

26. Leased assets
(1) Finance lease transactions
The Company primarily leases furniture and electronic appliances 
to apartments in their leasing business. Leased assets are depreci-
ated in the straight-line method over the lease-term of respective 
assets as their useful lives, with no residual value.

(2) Operating lease transactions
Future minimum lease payments related to non-cancelable operat-
ing leases subsequent to March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

JPY million

March 31, 2021 Future lease payments Prepaid lease payments Differences

Due within one year 227,409
(227,272)

538
(538)

226,871
(226,733)

Due after one year 91,075
(90,858)

611
(611)

90,464
(90,246)

Total 318,485
(318,130)

1,150
(1,150)

317,335
(316,980)

JPY million

March 31, 2020 Future lease payments Prepaid lease payments Differences

Due within one year 234,427
(234,225)

805
(805)

233,622
(233,420)

Due after one year 100,070
(99,774)

1,089
(1,089)

98,981
(98,684)

Total 334,498
(333,999)

1,894
(1,894)

332,603
(332,104)

USD thousand

March 31, 2021 Future lease payments Prepaid lease payments Differences

Due within one year 2,054,104
(2,052,864)

4,867
(4,867)

2,049,237
(2,047,997)

Due after one year 822,652
(820,687)

5,522
(5,522)

817,129
(815,165)

Total 2,876,756
(2,873,551)

10,389
(10,389)

2,866,366
(2,863,162)

Note:
Future minimum lease payments fixed under master lease agreements in leasing business are shown in parentheses.

27. Guarantee Obligations
Guaranteed obligations as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Guarantee obligations to financial institutions for  
customers who have a home mortgage 430 468 3,890

Guarantee obligations to financial institutions for  
customers who have a membership loan — 3 —

Total 430 472 3,890

28. Segment Information
(1) Overview of Reportable Segments
The Company’s reportable segments are the components for which 
separate financial information is available, and whose operating 
results are reviewed regularly by the board of directors in order to 
determine allocation of resources and assess segment performance.

The Company comprises three segments, the Leasing Business, 
the Elderly Care Business and the Other Businesses.

The Leasing Business operations comprise the leasing and 
management of apartment rooms and other properties, repair 
works, broadband internet service, rent obligation guarantee, 
company residence agency business, solar power generation busi-
ness, and small-amount short-term insurance business, real estate 
brokerage, running serviced apartments and serviced offices and 
others. The Elderly Care Business operates elderly care facilities. 
The Other Businesses operate resort facilities in Guam, financing 
business and others.

(2) �Calculation Method for Sales, Profits or Losses, Assets, 
Liabilities, and other Items by Reportable Segment

The accounting methods for reportable segments are in accor-
dance to accounting policies adopted in the preparation of consol-
idated financial statements. The reportable segment profits (or 
losses) represent operating profits (or losses). Inter-segment sales 
and transfers are based on prevailing market prices.

(3) �Changes in Reportable Segments
The Company had four reportable segments, the Leasing Business, 
the Development Business, the Elderly Care Business, the Hotels, 
Resort and Other Businesses and changed them into the afore-
mentioned three segments. It reflected the Group’s redirection 
from business diversification strategy to profit-oriented strategy 
centered on the Leasing Business as a result of implementing a 
drastic business restructuring. The Leasing Business integrat-
ed the previous Development Business because it strengthens 
relations with the property owners and provide comprehensive 
proposals related to their owned properties. As a result, sales 
and cost of sales for the Development Business which were sep-
arately reported in the fiscal year ended March 2020, have been 
included in those for the Leasing Business. Specifically, sales for 
the Development Business of JPY 23,806 million and cost of sales 
for the Development Business of JPY 19,415 million were included 
in sales for the Leasing Business and cost of sales for the Leasing 
Business respectively for the consolidated statement of income 
for the year ended March 2020. The Company renamed the Hotels, 
Resort and Other Businesses to the Other Businesses because of 
the decision of withdrawing the business of hotels and resort.

The reportable segment information for the fiscal year ended 
March 2021 was reclassified into the current reportable segment 
structure for disclosure purposes.
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(4) �Information Regarding Sales, Losses, Assets, Liabilities, and other Items by Reportable Segment for the years ended March 31, 
2021 and 2020 are as follows:

March 31, 2021

JPY million

Reportable segment
Adjustments Consolidated 

TotalLeasing 
Business

Elderly Care 
Business 

Other 
Businesses Segment Total

Sales
Sales to customers 391,964 14,524 2,469 408,959 — 408,959
Inter-segment sales and transfers 143 — 603 747 (747) —
Total 392,108 14,524 3,073 409,706 (747) 408,959

Segment profit (loss) (19,385) (720) (1,551) (21,658) (7,524) (29,182)
Segment assets 71,800 3,557 20,881 96,239 65,469 161,708
Other items

Depreciation 7,456 47 1,097 8,601 1,815 10,416
Increase in property, plant and equipment and  

intangible fixed assets 2,204 26 154 2,386 608 2,994

March 31, 2020

JPY million

Reportable segment
Adjustments Consolidated 

TotalLeasing 
Business

Elderly Care 
Business 

Other 
Businesses Segment Total

Sales
Sales to customers 412,746 14,620 6,186 433,553 — 433,553
Inter-segment sales and transfers 209 — 2,410 2,620 (2,620) —
Total 412,956 14,620 8,596 436,174 (2,620) 433,553

Segment profit (loss) (25,966) (541) (994) (27,502) (8,971) (36,473)
Segment assets 86,250 3,470 27,452 117,173 79,779 196,953
Other items

Depreciation 8,464 100 1,441 10,005 2,151 12,157
Increase in property, plant and equipment and  

intangible fixed assets 3,353 0 480 3,833 45 3,879

March 31, 2021

USD thousand

Reportable segment
Adjustments Consolidated 

TotalLeasing 
Business

Elderly Care 
Business 

Other 
Businesses Segment Total

Sales
Sales to customers 3,540,465 131,193 22,308 3,693,968 — 3,693,968
Inter-segment sales and transfers 1,295 — 5,455 6,751 (6,751) —
Total 3,541,761 131,193 27,764 3,700,719 (6,751) 3,693,968

Segment profit (loss) (175,101) (6,511) (14,017) (195,631) (67,966) (263,597)
Segment assets 648,541 32,137 188,610 869,289 591,362 1,460,652
Other items

Depreciation 67,350 433 9,910 77,694 16,396 94,090
Increase in property, plant and equipment and  

intangible fixed assets 19,913 239 1,399 21,552 5,494 27,047

Notes: 
(i)	 Breakdown of adjustments is as follows:
	 Segment profit (loss)

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Inter-segment eliminations 169 (85) 1,529
Corporate expenses* (7,693) (8,885) (69,495)
Total (7,524) (8,971) (67,966)

*�Corporate expenses consist mainly of general administrative expenses for administrative departments that are not part of reportable segments.

	 Segment assets

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Surplus operating funds, long-term investment funds and  
assets not belonging to any reportable segments 65,469 79,779 591,362

	 Increase in non-current assets and intangible assets

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Capital expenditures which do not belonging to any reportable segments 608 45 5,494

(ii)	 Segment loss is adjusted to operating loss on the consolidated statement of income.
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Related information
1. Products and services
Information concerning products and services is omitted, since similar information is reported in “28. Segment Information.”

2. Geographic area
(1) Sales
Information concerning sales by geographic area is omitted, since more than 90% of sales reported in the consolidated statement of 
income are generated in Japan.

(2) Plant, property, and equipment
March 31, 2021

JPY million

Japan Trust territory of U.S.A. Guam Kingdom of Thailand Kingdom of Cambodia Other Total

49,316 19,412 512 667 143 70,052

March 31, 2020

JPY million

Japan Trust territory of U.S.A. Guam Kingdom of Thailand Kingdom of Cambodia Other Total

62,071 21,586 887 755 232 85,534

March 31, 2021

USD thousand

Japan Trust territory of U.S.A. Guam Kingdom of Thailand Kingdom of Cambodia Other Total

445,460 175,349 4,625 6,029 1,294 632,759

3. Major customers
Information concerning sales to major customers is omitted, since no sales to any particular customer exceed 10% of sales reported in the 
consolidated statement of income.

Information concerning impairment loss on non-current assets by reportable segments
March 31, 2021

JPY million

Leasing Business Elderly Care Business Other Businesses Adjustments Consolidated total

Impairment loss 3,950 8 82 — 4,041

March 31, 2020

JPY million

Leasing Business Elderly Care Business Other Businesses Adjustments Consolidated total

Impairment loss 2,471 51 5,097 — 7,620

March 31, 2021

USD thousand

Leasing Business Elderly Care Business Other Businesses Adjustments Consolidated total

Impairment loss 35,686 73 746 — 36,505

Information concerning goodwill amortization and unamortized balance by reportable segments
March 31, 2021

JPY million

Leasing Business Elderly Care Business Other Businesses Adjustments Consolidated total

Goodwill amortization 6 — — — 6
Balance 12 — — — 12

Note: 
The Company posted impairment loss of JPY 107 million for goodwill in the Leasing Business.

March 31, 2020

JPY million

Leasing Business Elderly Care Business Other Businesses Adjustments Consolidated total

Goodwill amortization 260 — — — 260
Balance 127 — — — 127

Note: 
The Company posted impairment loss of JPY 982 million for goodwill in the Leasing Business segment. The Company sold all the shares in 
Life Living Co., Ltd. in the year ended March 2020 and excluded it from the scope of consolidation, which resulted in the reduction of good-
will by JPY 953 million in the Leasing Business.

March 31, 2021

USD thousand

Leasing Business Elderly Care Business Other Businesses Adjustments Consolidated total

Goodwill amortization 61 — — — 61
Balance 113 — — — 113

Note: 
The Company posted impairment loss of USD 973 thousand for goodwill in the Leasing Business.
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Information concerning gain on negative goodwill by reportable segments
For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.
None

29. Amounts per Share
The following tables set forth the net assets and net income per share of common stock for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:

JPY USD

2021 2020 2021

Net assets (25.83) 5.34 (0.23)
Net loss attributable to shareholders of the parent 84.88 328.77 0.76

Notes:
(i)	� Diluted net income per share is not indicated because net loss per share is indicated, although there are potential common shares with 

dilutive effects.
(ii)	 Basis of computation of basic and diluted net income per share for the year ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

JPY million USD thousand

2021 2020 2021

Net loss attributable to shareholders of the parent 23,680 80,224 213,897
Amount not attributable to common stock — — —
Net loss attributable to common stock 23,680 80,224 213,897
Basic weighted-average shares during the year (Thousands of shares) 279,003 244,011 244,011
Dilutive securities without dilutive effects and excluded from calculation of 

diluted net income per share. —

30. Related Party Transactions
For the year ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.
None

31. Business Combinations
Business Combination under common control
None

32. Other
The following tables set forth quarterly information for the year ended March 31, 2021:

Cumulative period First quarter Second quarter Third quarter Full-year

Net sales (JPY million) 103,986 208,647 308,326 408,959

Income (loss) before income taxes (JPY million) (15,012) (17,034) (23,900) (22,925)

Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of the parent (JPY million) (14,123) (17,571) (25,003) (23,680)

Net income (loss) per share (JPY) (57.84) (71.95) (95.18) (84.88)

Accounting period First quarter Second quarter Third quarter Full-year

Net income (loss) per share (JPY) (57.84) (14.11) (24.82) 4.02

Cumulative period First quarter Second quarter Third quarter Full-year

Net sales (USD thousand) 939,268 1,884,628 2,784,994 3,693,968

Income (loss) before income taxes (USD thousand) (135,606) (153,867) (215,885) (207,072)

Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of the parent  
(USD thousand) (127,569) (158,713) (225,843) (213,897)

Net income (loss) per share (USD) (0.52) (0.65) (0.86) (0.76)

 Accounting period First quarter Second quarter Third quarter Full-year

Net income (loss) per share (USD) (0.52) (0.12) (0.22) (0.03)

33. Subsequent Events
Reduction of common stock
The Company determined, under the approval of the Board of Directors on May 14, 2021, to submit a proposal on reduction of com-
mon stock to the Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting held on June 29, 2021. The proposal was approved at the Ordinary General 
Shareholders’ Meeting.

(1) Purpose of reduction of common stock
In order to ensure the flexibility and speediness of the capital policy, the Company has decided to reduce the common stock, as stipulated in 
Article 447, Paragraph 1 of the Companies Act. 

There will be no change in the total number of outstanding shares and there will be no effect on the number of shares held by all share-
holders. In addition, there will be no change in net assets and in net assets per share.

(2) Main points in reduction of common stock
(a) Reduced amount of common stock

Reduce common stock by JPY 81,182,359,829 from JPY 81,282,359,829 to make the common stock of JPY 100,000,000.

(b) Method of reduction
There will be no change in the total number of outstanding shares. The entire amount of the reduction, JPY 81,182,359,829, will be trans-
ferred to other capital surplus.

(3) Timeline in 2021
May 14 (Board of Directors Meeting)	 Approval at the Board of Directors Meeting
June 29 (General Shareholders’ Meeting)	 Approval at the General Shareholders’ Meeting
July 30 	 Expiration of period for creditors’ making objections
August 10	 Effective date

(4) Impact on the Company’s financial result
The above measure involves reassignments of funds within the net assets category with no changes in the amount of net assets and will not 
have any impact on the Company’s business performance.
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Employee Composition (Parent company)

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

Total Men Women Total Men Women Total Men Women

No. of employees 6,331 4,395 1,936 5,814 4,035 1,779 4,169 2,671 1,498

No. of regular employees 5,833 4,142 1,691 5,461 3,830 1,631 3,864 2,499 1,365

No. of temporary hires 498 253 245 353 205 148 305 172 133

Average age
37 years,  
7 months

38 years,  
7 months

35 years,  
2 months

38 years,  
8 months

39 years,  
3 months

36 years,  
4 months

39 years,  
0 months

40 years,  
0 months

37 years,  
3 months

Average cumulative years  
of service

9 years,  
7 months

10 years,  
10 months

6 years,  
7 months

10 years,  
6 months

11 years,  
10 months

7 years,  
6 months

10 years,  
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0 months
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Work-Life Balance (Parent company)

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

Total Men Women Total Men Women Total Men Women

Total number of working hours 
per month

173.0 166.3 160.3

Overtime work hours per month 15.0 13.3 11.4

No. of employees with  
reduced working hours

199 11 188 277 15 262 216 3 213

No. of employees on  
childcare leave

238 55 183 268 37 231 246 47 199

Ratio of paid leave usage 76.8% 74.4% 82.6% 84.3% 83.1% 87.1% 90.5% 92.4% 86.1%

Ratio of workforce turnover 8.6% 7.2% 12.0% 12.4% 11.2% 15.1% 31.4% 35.9% 20.8%

Ratio of new hires 19.1% 18.2% 20.3% 22.1% 17.3% 28.3% 16.7% 18.2% 14.3%

Diversity (Consolidated (excluding Guam), Parent company + Leopalace Smile for employees with disabilities)

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

Total Men Women Total Men Women Total Men Women

No. of employees with disabilities (annual average) 161.9 154.0 107.9

% of employees with disabilities (annual average rate) 2.23% 2.26% 2.33%

No. of mandatory retirees that have been rehired 31 24 7 21 17 4 22 15 7

No. of foreign national employees 351 144 207 366 143 223 218 89 129

No. of foreign national managers 25 20 5 26 20 6 22 16 6

No. of people newly employed 725 336 389 523 229 294 329 149 180

Gender ratio for new hires 100.0% 46.3% 53.7% 100.0% 44.7% 55.3% 100.0% 45.3% 54.7%

No. of managers 1,758 1,648 110 1,671 1,549 122 1,061 987 74

Gender ratio for managers 100.0% 93.7% 6.3% 100.0% 92.7% 7.3% 100.0% 93.0% 7.0%

Governance
FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

Outside directors 3 7 6

Female directors 1 2 1

Directors’ compensation (JPY million) 595 228 170

Directors (excluding outside directors) 495 131 56

Audit & Supervisory Board members 
(excluding outside ASB members)

19 13 16

Outside directors and ASB members 80 83 97

The Company engages in sustainable management initiatives under the leadership of the CSR Committee, which is chaired by the CSR officer, in 
collaboration with divisions and departments. The CSR Committee reports on the progress of initiatives in line with the five themes of the Basic 
CSR Action Policy, based on the quantitative targets set by each division and department, and moves initiatives to the next phase of the PDCA cycle. 
For the fiscal year ending March 2022, we updated the material issues identified for the previous fiscal year considering the current socioeconomic 
climate as well as the Company’s own business conditions, and set KPIs for each materiality. Key topics and KPIs are approved by the CSR 
Committee, and these are periodically reported to the Board of Directors to conduct CSR activities.

Social Key Performance Indicators

Data Compilation

Support for Employees Seeking to Obtain Qualifications
FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

No. of employees using support for 
obtaining qualifications

368 266 170

No. of employees using support 
system for obtaining specified 
qualifications

245 144 69

No. of employees in program for 
language skills improvement

15 13 6

No. of employees awarded an 
incentive payment for obtaining 
Takken qualification

108 109 95

Community Contributions
FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

No. of cleanup campaign participants 6,142 2,309 1,002

Of which, in vicinity of existing properties —* 0 0

Of which, in vicinity of construction sites 6,142 2,309 1,002

Total sum of donations (thousands of yen) 3,754 3,708 1,998

No. joining observation tours and 
OTJ training at Leopalace Smile

417 111 0

*Cleanup campaign was held all together in the management center of 170 branches once in fiscal 2018.

Labor Safety and Health
FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

No. of labor accidents 55 56 46

Accidents requiring time off work 14 21 19

Accidents not requiring time off work 41 35 27

Stakeholder Communication Initiatives
FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

No. of property owner briefing sessions 517 381 87

No. of IR events  
(meetings for individual investors, etc.)

19 5 6

Career-support activity programs 35 0 0

Certified Employees (as of March 2021)	 (People)

Real estate broker 717

Rental property manager 408

General insurance solicitor  
(basic course/fire insurance course)

661

Architect (first-class, second-class) 244

Building construction management engineer  
(1st Grade, 2nd Grade)

194

Certified skilled worker of financial planning  
(1st Grade, 2nd Grade)

204

Land surveyor, Assistant land surveyor 23

Care worker 720

Care support specialist 205

Home-visit care worker (1st Grade, 2nd Grade) 345

Efforts to Reduce our Environmental Impact
FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

CO2 emissions from the use of 
electricity and gas use (t-CO2)

14,730 13,624 9,350

Head office and branches 6,185 6,343 4,647

Azumi En nursing care facilities 6,056 4,899 4,395

Leopalace hotels 2,489 2,381 307

CO2 emissions from vehicle gasoline 
(t-CO2)

3,345 3,172 2,212

Scope 3 CO2 emissions (t-CO2) 786,510 692,463 693,388

Category 1 (purchased materials) 31,263 10,898 5,850

Category 2 (capital goods) 29,835 12,692 9,621

Category 3 (electricity-related)

4,338 5,701 4,931Category 6 (business travel)

Category 7 (employee commuting)

Category 13 (electricity and gas 
use by rental housing)

724,543 663,171 672,987
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Subsidiary Equipments and ServicesUnits Under Management

As of March 31, 2021, units under management 
—the earnings base for our Leasing Business— 
numbered 573,673, marking a slight decline for the first 
time in eight years. The number of units under manage-
ment plateaued or fell in each region except for the Tokyo 
metropolitan area.

Leasing Business Data

Occupied Units by Contract Type

We are strengthening our marketing efforts aimed at 
corporate customers, where we can expect stable, 
long-term earnings. As of March 31, 2021, there was a 
significant decrease in the number of corporate contracts 
for apartments compared to individuals and students due 
to the effects of the construction defects problem as well 
as reduced personnel rotation and training as a result 
of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, the number of 
corporate contracts for apartments at the end of the fiscal 
year ended March 2021 was 266,814 units, down 2.1% 
from a year earlier.

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

Units % Units % Units %

Corporate 280,643 57.9 272,566 57.0 266,814 56.9
Of which, foreign 
national (%)

— 5.6 — 6.0 — 5.3

Individuals 163,318 33.7 165,594 34.6 164,441 35.1
Of which, foreign 
national (%)

— 4.7 — 5.4 — 5.6

Students 40,757 8.4 40,135 8.4 37,548 8.0
Of which, foreign 
national (%)

— 29.1 — 35.2 — 32.4

Total 484,718 100.0 478,295 100.0 468,803 100.0

Number of Leasing Sales Offices and Sales Personnel

As a result of the voluntary retirement system implemented 
in the fiscal year ended March 2021, the number of sales 
personnel has fallen, with 1,047 sales personnel at the 
end of the fiscal year ended March 2021, marking a 21.8% 
decline on the previous year. To compensate for the reduc-
tion in personnel, in the leasing business, we are reducing 
the number of directly managed sales offices and shifting 
to a sales structure that utilizes real estate agents.

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

No. of leasing sales offices 302 295 239
Of which, Leopalace Centers 189 189 139
Of which, Leopalace Partners 
(franchisees)

113 106 100

No. of leasing sales personnel 1,494 1,339 1,047

(Units)

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

Hokkaido 13,909 13,866 13,550
Tohoku 35,652 35,623 35,327
Kita-Kanto 40,494 40,494 40,437
Tokyo metro area 170,358 171,080 170,320
Hokuriku-Koshinetsu 40,003 39,981 39,943
Chubu 88,194 88,086 87,756
Kinki 80,861 81,011 80,859
Chugoku 39,208 39,415 39,390
Shikoku 14,691 14,736 14,736
Kyushu-Okinawa 51,428 51,506 51,355
Total 574,798 575,798 573,673

Fiscal Year-End Occupancy Rates by Region

Although the occupancy rate declined in many regions 
of Japan due to the effects of the construction defects 
problem and the COVID-19 pandemic, the amount of the 
decline is decreasing. The regions of Hokkaido, Hokuriku-
Koshinetsu, and Kinki saw improved results.

(%)

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

Hokkaido 69.0 73.1 69.8
Tohoku 84.8 84.7 83.0
Kita-Kanto 80.3 77.2 77.3
Tokyo metro area 86.0 84.9 81.8
Hokuriku-Koshinetsu 79.1 79.1 80.6
Chubu 85.1 81.9 80.3
Kinki 83.1 81.5 81.8
Chugoku 88.0 87.0 86.5
Shikoku 84.3 83.4 82.6
Kyushu-Okinawa 87.6 87.4 86.5
Total 88.3 80.8 78.9

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

Security systems installed (cumulative, units) 308,944 313,382 314,776

Security cameras installed (cumulative, buildings) 14,410 14,671 14,749

No. of incoming calls to Services Centers 387,398 382,518 380,343

Of which, inquiries 254,334 266,644 237,564

Of which, maintenance-related 106,508 92,762 114,988

Of which, complaints or claims 26,556 23,112 27,791

No. of web-based rental agreements 0 392 13,697

Monthly Occupancy Rates for the Past 10 Years (%)

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

FY2011 81.09 80.64 80.87 80.45 80.50 81.05 80.43 80.69 80.54 81.65 82.73 83.40

FY2012 81.77 82.18 82.69 82.53 82.90 83.13 82.59 82.55 82.29 83.39 84.48 84.81

FY2013 83.32 83.67 83.69 83.50 83.84 84.28 84.23 84.31 84.12 85.61 86.92 87.47

FY2014 86.00 86.03 85.96 85.63 85.78 86.33 86.14 86.10 85.69 87.24 88.65 89.29

FY2015 87.88 87.61 87.59 87.32 87.26 87.70 87.26 87.14 86.89 88.38 89.80 90.53

FY2016 88.97 88.55 88.60 87.95 87.78 88.31 87.50 87.41 86.97 88.41 90.18 91.66

FY2017 90.51 90.28 90.55 89.75 89.88 90.21 89.73 89.69 89.44 90.83 92.43 93.72

FY2018 92.82 92.76 92.10 90.45 89.41 88.40 87.24 86.38 85.26 85.38 85.57 84.33

FY2019 82.35 81.95 81.40 80.67 80.21 80.07 79.49 79.21 78.91 80.19 81.82 83.07

FY2020 81.40 79.91 79.43 78.56 78.18 78.09 77.46 77.09 77.07 78.16 79.60 81.72

*Occupancy rate = number of units under contract/number of units under management at the end of each month

Ratio of General Contracts and  
Monthly Contracts Over 10 Years

While the proportion of monthly contracts has been falling 
over the past 10 years, the proportion of general contracts 
without a fixed contract period has grown from 79.8% in 
the fiscal year ended March 2012 to 93.9% for the fiscal 
year ended March 2021. In this way, the proportion of 
units under a more stable leasing contract is on the rise.

(%)

General contracts Monthly contracts

FY2011 79.8 20.2

FY2012 82.9 17.1

FY2013 85.8 14.2

FY2014 88.4 11.6

FY2015 89.8 10.2

FY2016 90.0 10.0

FY2017 91.1 8.9

FY2018 94.1 5.9

FY2019 93.2 6.8

FY2020 93.9 6.1
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Orders

After the discovery of the construction defects problem, 
we stopped booking activities for new properties and 
focused on following up with property owners, meaning 
that the orders received for apartments, etc., fell sig-
nificantly with a 47.5% year-on-year decline. However, 
subsidiary Morizou saw a year-on-year increase in 
orders received for custom-built homes, with orders 
totaling JPY 3,381 billion.

Number of Facilities

We have positioned our Elderly Care Business as a growth 
strategy business, and our plan is to work on increasing 
the stability of this business to handle Japan’s aging 
population. At the end of March 2021, we had a total of 
87 facilities, which was the same as the past two years.

Utilization Rate

The utilization rate of fee-based homes for seniors and 
group homes as well as short stays remained high, 
exceeding 90%. We are focusing on temporary-type 
offerings, notably day services and short stays, and 
the utilization rate of both is relatively stable, although 
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic in the fiscal year 
ended March 2021.

Wealth Management Offices and Personnel

In accordance with the business portfolio changes in the 
fiscal year ended March 2021, we established Wealth 
Management Departments under the umbrella of the 
Leasing Business Division to strengthen our connection 
with property owners and regain their trust, and the 
previous construction subcontracting sales departments 
in the Development Business were transferred. We set 
branches in each area to enable close follow-up with 
property owners.

External Environment

Elderly Care Business Data

(JPY million)

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

Building categories

Apartments 56,859 4,852 2,546

Elderly care facilities 931 156 0

Stores & commercial space 1,934 280 0

Custom-built homes by  
subsidiary Morizou

4,771 2,526 3,381

Solar power systems 0 0 0

Total 64,495 7,814 5,927

FY2020

No. of offices 65

No. of sales personnel 319

Number of Households

The number of households in Japan is expected 
to decline starting 2025 due to the nation’s trends 
of an aging population and low fertility rate. 
On the other hand, the number of single-person 
households is expected to continue increasing 
until 2030.

(Thousand households)

2010 2015 2020
(projection)

2025
(projection)

2030
(projection)

2035
(projection)

2040
(projection)

Single-person 
households

16,785 18,418 19,342 19,960 20,254 20,233 19,944

Of which,  
under age 25

2,060 2,021 2,009 1,879 1,781 1,681 1,584

Of which,  
age 25–34

2,999 2,987 2,830 2,795 2,705 2,558 2,429

Of which,  
age 35–64

6,745 7,157 7,479 7,774 7,809 7,577 6,968

Of which,  
age 65 or older

4,980 6,253 7,025 7,512 7,959 8,418 8,963

Married couple 10,269 10,758 11,101 11,203 11,138 10,960 10,715
Married couple  
with child(ren)

14,474 14,342 14,134 13,693 13,118 12,465 11,824

Single parent  
with child(ren)

4,535 4,770 5,020 5,137 5,141 5,074 4,924

Other 5,779 5,044 4,510 4,123 3,833 3,583 3,350
Total 51,842 53,332 54,107 54,116 53,484 52,315 50,757

Source: �Household projections for Japan (2018), the National Institute of Population and Social Security Research

Number of Vacant Homes in Japan

Amid the concentration of populations in cities, 
the number of vacant homes is growing, espe-
cially in rural areas. According to the Housing and 
Land Survey, the number of vacant houses for rent 
is 4.3 million, meaning that roughly one in five are 
vacant. In order to operate our business in such 
tough circumstances, it is essential to enhance 
the added value of the properties we manage.

1988 1993 1998 2003 2008 2013 2018

Number of vacant 
houses for rent 
(thousand units)

2,336 2,619 3,520 3,675 4,127 4,292 4,327

Houses for rent 
(thousand units)

14,015 15,691 16,730 17,166 17,770 18,519 19,065

Ratio of vacant 
dwellings (%)

14.3 14.3 17.4 17.6 18.8 18.8 18.5

Source: Housing and Land Survey (2018), the Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications
*Rate of vacant homes = number of vacant housings for rent / (number of vacant housings for rent + houses for rent)

Projected Future Population of Japan

The population of Japan has been falling after 
peaking in 2008. It is predicted that the population 
will be 119.13 million in 2030, falling below 
120 million. On the other hand, the population 
of advanced elderly age (75 years or older) is 
estimated to increase until 2030, and the propor-
tion of the population that is 75 years or older 
continues to gradually increase.

(Thousand people)

2010 2015 2020
(projection)

2025
(projection)

2030
(projection)

2035
(projection)

2040
(projection)

Age 0–14 1,680 1,589 1,507 1,407 1,321 1,246 1,194
Age 15–64 8,103 7,629 7,406 7,170 6,875 6,494 5,978
Age 65–74 1,517 1,734 1,747 1,497 1,428 1,522 1,681
Age 75 or older 1,407 1,613 1,872 2,180 2,288 2,260 2,239
Unknown 98 145
Total 128,060 127,090 125,320 122,540 119,130 115,220 110,920
Proportion age 75 or 
older (%)

11.0 12.7 14.9 17.8 19.2 19.6 20.2 

Source: Annual Report on the Ageing Society 2021, Cabinet Office

Number of New Housing Starts

The number of new housing starts in FY2020 decreased by 8.1% 
year on year. Starts for housings for rent also fell for the fourth 
consecutive year, with a 9.4% year-on-year decrease to 303,000 
units. However, starts of rental units of less than 30 square 
meters aimed mainly at single-person households rose 1.0% year 
on year to 53,000 units.

(Thousand units)

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

Rental housing 390 335 303
Of which, under 30m2 73 53 53

Other 563 549 509
Total 953 884 812

Source: �Housing starts statistics, the Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transport, and Tourism

(Facilities)

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

Fee-based homes 21 21 21

Day services, Short stays 64 64 64

Group homes 2 2 2

Total 87 87 87

(Utilization rate, %)

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020

Day services 72.6 72.8 67.1

Short stays 93.6 95.6 92.1

Fee-based homes &  
group homes

91.6 92.4 93.0



124 125Leopalace21 Integrated Report 2021 Leopalace21 Integrated Report 2021

Corporate Profile

Number of Apartment Rooms under Management and Domestic Leasing Sales Offices by Region 
(As of March 31, 2021)

Share Price and Trading Volume (As of March 31, 2021)

Corporate Data  
(As of March 31, 2021)

Members of Board of Directors and Auditors  
(As of June 29, 2021)

Corporate Data (As of March 31, 2021) Shareholder Composition (As of March 31, 2021)
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Total number of 
managed rooms

573,673 units

Total number of 
directly managed sales offices
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franchised sales offices

100 offices

0

100

200

300

0

100

200

300

0

100

200

300

0

100

200

300

Trading VolumeShare Price
(JPY) (Thousand shares)

Apr
2020

May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan 
2021

Feb Mar

300

200

100

0

150,000

100,000

50,000

0

始値 終値 高値 安値

Company Name:	 Leopalace21 Corporation

Head Office:	� 2-54-11 Honcho, Nakano-ku,  
Tokyo 164-8622 
TEL: +81-3-5350-0001 (Main phone number)

Established:	 August 17, 1973

Common stock:	 JPY 100 million (As of August 10, 2021)

Operations:	� Construction, leasing and sales of  
apartments, condominiums, and residential 
housing; development and operation of 
resort facilities; broadband business; and 
elderly care business, etc.

Number of Employees:	� 5,082 (consolidated basis) 
4,172 (non-consolidated basis)

Number of shares authorized:	 500,000,000

Number of shares outstanding:	 329,389,515

Number of shareholders:	 60,798

Listing:	� First Section of  
the Tokyo Stock Exchange

Administrator of Shareholder Registry: 
	 Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited

Directors
President and CEO	 Bunya Miyao
Director	 Shigeru Ashida
Director	 Mayumi Hayashima
Director (Outside)	 Akira Watanabe
Director (Outside)	 Kazuyasu Fujita
Director (Outside)	 Yutaka Nakamura
Director (Outside)	 Akio Yamashita
Director (Outside)	 Jin Ryu

Audit & Supervisory Board Members
Full-time Audit & Supervisory Board Member (Outside)	 Jiro Yoshino
Full-time Audit & Supervisory Board Member	 Kenichiro Samejima
Audit & Supervisory Board Member (Outside)	 Takao Yuhara
Audit & Supervisory Board Member	 Yoshitaka Murakami

Securities companies

2.71%

Business corporations 
and other legal entities

42.48%

Financial institutions

7.08%

Foreign corporations

15.59%

Treasury stock

0.17%

Individuals and other

31.97%

Major Shareholders (Top 10)	 (As of March 31, 2021)

Shareholder Name (honorific titles are omitted) Number of Shares 
(thousands of shares)

Percentage of 
Outstanding Shares

1 Chidori Godo Kaisha 84,507 25.69

2 Ardisia Investment, Inc 48,683 14.80

3 Noriyasu Shimada 11,474 3.48

4 STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMPANY 505103 9,295 2.82

5 The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 6,416 1.95

6 JPMBL RE NOMURA INTERNATIONAL PLC 1 COLL EQUITY 5,415 1.64

7 Stockholding Association for Leopalace21’s Business Connection 5,319 1.61

8 SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd. 5,029 1.52

9 Stockholding Association for Leopalace21’s Apartment Owners 4,712 1.43

10 Stockholding Association for Leopalace21’s Employees 3,093 0.94

Note	 1. Of the shares held by The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) as of March 31, 2021, those held in trust accounts as part of trust bank operations were 4,441 thousand shares.
	 2. The above percentages of outstanding shares are calculated excluding treasury stock.
	 3. The number of shares outstanding increased by 84,507 thousand shares through the issuance of new shares through a third-party allotment with a payment date of November 2, 2020.




